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OPNET Technologies Inc is leading provider of solutions for
m1 ytnWMvorks

and

applications Our solutions address application performance management network

engineering operations and planning and network RD

Organizations rely on networks and enterpnse software apphcations to successfully execute their

strategies As the dependency on networked applications has grown so have demands for high

performance and availability At the same time the size and complexity of the IT infrastructure

has increased commensurately Due to all of these factors businesses and government entities

confront significant challenges related to the cost risk and performance of IT

Traditional application and network management solutions focus on data collection and

monitoring These solutions typically report on historical trends and status of networks or

systems While this information can be useful in rnanacjing IT assets and in identifying certain

performance problems it is frequently insufficient to point to the actual cause of these

problems OPNET differentiates itself from other managerrrerrt solutions by providing deep data

collection monitoring and advanced analytics OPNET solutions collect highly detailed data and

provide analysis that dramatically accelerates problem resolution and also permits problem

prevention

Continuing its tradition as leading technology innovator OPNET is extending the state of the

art in Application Performance Management by de\/eloping solutions that provide an endto

end perspective Por the first time single vendor is providing deep analysis of application

performance from the network perspective as well as the end system e.g server

or client perspective Integrating views of application performance from these

simultaneous perspectives provides significantly improved ability
to solve

performance problems and to coordinate troubleshooting across differentsilos in

the IT organization

OPNETs software solutions generate returr on investment for broad customer

base including corporate and government enterprises network service providers

defense agencies and network equipment manufacturers These organizations rely on OPNE1

software to improve operational effectiveness through higher availability and performance

accelerate the deployment of strategic applications and services reduce IT operating and capital

costs manage risk associated with growth and change and increase productivity

CORPORATE PROFILE
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OPNET Partners with Riverbed Delivers Unique OPNET Delivers Management for Virtualization

Capabilities for Managing Networks Supporting Major Industry Trend

In June 2008 OPNET and Riverbed Technology Virtualization is arguably the most signifi cant IT trend

announced their intention to deliver unparalleled in recent years With the introduction of more power-

capabilities for real-time monitoring arid trou- ful servers increasing
numbers of virtual servers are

bleshooting of wide area network WAN applications being consolidated onto fewer platforms While this

accelerated by Riverbed WAN optimization devices offers
significant benefits virtualization also results in

accelerate the performance of applications
that are greater complexity and need for new application

accessed over wide area network and have become performance management funktionality

increasingly popular among IT organizations

Strategic new capability was delivered in OPNET

The announcement was followed few months later Panorama in fiscal year 2009 with support for

by the introduction of new one-of-a kind analysis VMWare virtualized server environments providing

capabilities in ACE Analysr for organizations deploy- insight into physical resource consumption This com

ing
WAN optimization devices from vendors including plernents IT Guru Systems Planners ability to plan vir

Riverbed Technology Cisco Systems and Juniper tual server deployments with critical support for
pro-

Networks The techniques that are applied by these duction environments

types of devices obscure the actual application behav
ACE Live 4100 Introduces Innovative Solution

br over the network making it more difficult to trou

for Performance Data Storage
bleshoot performance problems ACE Analyst soft

ware restores the end-to-end visibility ofapplication
ORNET introduced new model of the ACE Live appli

transactions that traverse networks employing WAN ance in fiscal year 2009 with capabilities
that are par

optimization
ticularly valuable for organizations that need to retain

raw application performance data for long periods of

In December 2008 ORNET with RiverbedTechnology tirne.The ACE Live 4100 featuresTargeted Forensic

announced ACE Live on RSP software version of
Archiving an intelligent efficient mode of data cap-

the ACE Live appliance that runs on the Riverbed
ture and storage that facilitates root cause analysis of

Steelbead device This industry
first enables organize-

application performance problems with lower cost of

tions to achieve enhanced application performance ownership than traditional modes of packet data stor

management in WAN-optimized environments with
age The 4100 also offers very large data storage

no additional equipment at the branch office provid-
capacity and high speed interfaces that operate at 10

ing greater ROb on their capital investment
Gigabits per second

OPNET Introduces NetMapper9or OPNET Panorama Addresses Pervasive Cause of

Automated Network Diagramming Application Performance Problems

In June 2008 OPNET introduced NetMapper dia

gramming solution that automates the entire process
OPNET Panorama was enhanced with new capabili

from end-to-end to produce professional quality net-
ties for memory analysis and real-time memory leak

work dras.vings Maintaining current network diagrams
troubleshooting Memory leaks are common source

isa significant challenge for network managers due to
of performance problems in business applications

the inherent complexity of modern data networks
and are typically very difficult to detect and diagnose

and the high frequency of changes NetMapper is the
Panorama addresses this by detecting memory leaks

industrys first solution to incorporate physical
and in real-time.Thisalways onfeature is delivered as

logical connectivity as well as detailed configuration
standard product capability unlike other vendor solu

information into network diagrams NetMappers dia-
tions that often require add-on modules that are run

grams also include vast amount of configuration
selectively in the event of problem and consequent-

information that is hyper-linked to the graphical ele-
ly are less effective in proactively addressing memory

ments enabling network engineers to rapidly and
leak problems

intuitively access content-rich up-to-date represen- OPNET Hosts 12th Annual

tation of the network that supports troubleshooting OPNETWORK Technology Conference

auditing and change planning NetMapper diagrams

are generated in the popular Microsoft Visio format OPNET hosted OPNETWORK 2008 its annual technol

OPNET is also participating in Microsofts VisioToolbox ogy conference August25 29 at the Ronald Reagan

Partner Program Building
in Washington D.C Approximately 1800

attendees participated
in over 775 hours of presenta

tions round-table discussions hands-on training and

demonstrations provided by OPNET and industry

experts This was the 12th edition of the event which

focuses on managing application and network per

formance

CORPORATE

HIGHLIGHTS

Annual Revenue

in Thousands 122879

J6llfflj
2006 2007 2008 2009

Annual Diluted Earnings per share

$0.38

j0io2L
20092006 2007 2008

Fiscal 2009 Operating Margins

Fiscal Year 2009

9.6% 0________

4L
Q1

-1.7%

Fiscal 2009

Diluted Earnings Loss per
Share

Fiscal Year 2009

$0.10 $0.10
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The end-to-end performance of enterprise applications depends on complex interactions

among application software servers and network infrastructure Furthermore the infrastruc

ture that supports applications is becoming more complex and distributed due to trends such as

virtualization service-oriented architectures and cloud computing Effective application per

formance management requires holistic view that encompasses these multiple perspectives

Application performance management is needed throughout the application lifecycle begin

ning with development and QA and continuing through deployment and operations com

prehensive strategy requires analytics that enable both proactive prevention of problems and

rapid troubleshooting Key capabilities include the ability to

Monitor and alert on transactions iii production environment

When problems occ perform tnage among infrastructure components to indicate where

to investigate further
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APPLICATION

PERFORMANCE

MANAGEMENT

Quickly find the roo cause of performance problems on the network on the servers or

within application de

Manage the convergence of voice and data on the same network

Predict the impact of deployments on the existing network arrd applications
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OPN1 echno ln

Network engineers who manage complex and constantly changing networks are

responsible for the infrastructure that supports business-critical services and

applications Our customers rely on our solutions to ensure high performance and

availability Key capabilities include the ability to

Validate network conliguration changes prior to deployment

Increase security and opei ational integrity with scheduled network audits

Optimize network pe formance through traffic engineering and capacity right-sizing

Ensure network survivability predicting the impact of failing nodes links or resource groups

Accelerate new service deployments technology migrations and data center

consolidations

Ut rf

NETWORK

ENGINEERING

OPERATIONS
PLANNING

IT Guru Network Planner

UT

Unify disparate views of the netwnrk arid its components across tools that operate in silos

Understand and visualize the state of the production network and proactively detect and

resolve operational ssues

Automatically produce network diagrams to demonstrate regulatory compliance

accelerate network tr.iibleshooting and manage network assets efficiently
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Network RD organizations rely on OPNET software to boost productivity improve

I\ fl3 Li product performance and quality and accelerate time-to-market for fixed and wireless

communication technologies Key capabilities include the ability to

Optirnie propneta wireless protocok and technologies

test and demonstrate technology designs in reahstK scenanos before production

Increase nctwork RD productivity and accelerate time-to-market

OPNET Modeler

erWreless Suee

Modeler Wireless Suite for Defense

Mode
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Emerson Climate Technologies is the worlds leading provider of heating air

conditioning and refngeration solutions for residential industrial and commercial

applications It is business segment of Emerson diversified global manufacturing and

technology company ranked 11 in the Fortune 500 Emerson Climate Technologiess

innovative solutions improve human comfort safeguard food and protect the

environment
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Lehigh Valley Health Network LVHN located in eastern Pennsylvania has been noted as

one ofAmericas Best Hospitals in US News World Report Magazine for the past

thirteen years Their 9500 employees are committed to teamwork and understand the

value of technology in providing superb patient care LVHN is the first health system in

the country to adopt continuous improvement initiative
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ACE Lye and ACE Analyst solve about 9% of the

performa ice pi
oblems that we are seeing states

Fronheiser

LVHN recently acquired OPNET Panorama to monitor and

troubleshoot application performance at the component level Panorama

provides visibility into system and database performance along with

method level visibility into application code enabling rapid rootcause

analysis of issues that originate within the server tier LVHN plans to

implement Panorama to monitor and rapidly troubleshoot application

and database performance for five critical applications

OPNET ovides end to end visibility into application performance

from both the network and the application perspective With any task you

need the right tool to get the job done quickly and efficiently and we have

found the right tools with ACE Live ACE Analyst and Par orama We continue

to purch6se solutio is trorn OPNET because of their integrated APM approach

and their focus on customer feedback

Lehigh VaHey Health Network

UtiUzes ACE Live ACE Anayst

and OPNET Panorama for

EndtoEnd Apphcation

Performane Management
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Datang Mobile

Uses OPNEI Modder to Jahdate

3G Network Devce Designs

Datang Mobile Communications Equipment Co Ltd is leading telecommunications

equipment manufacturer in China Datang Mobile has taken an active role in developing

and promoting the Time Division-Synchronous Code Division Multiple Access TD
SCDMA standard for 3G mobile communications They deliver high-quality mobile

Before Producton
communication products to the market contributing significantly to the development of

Chinas communications industry
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We have been using OPNE Modeler to design TD SCDMA network devices for more than

seven years Modeler piovides unparalleled support for high-fidelity network modeling and

scalable wired and wireless simulations By validating our device designs in Modeler

we are able to deliver state ofthe-art equipment to the market quicker and at

lower ost



JGC Corporation
JGC Corporation is leading builder of gas processing and liquefied natural gas plants

worldwide Founded in 1928 as Japans first engineering contractor JGC has since worked

nhanes Apphcauon Pertormane
on more than 20000 projects in almost 70 countries

with OPNEI
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JGC Addresses End-to-End Application Performance Management with OPNET
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OPNET Delivers Broad Value for JGC
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OPNET Technologies Inc 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes

and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annual Report The state

ment of operations data for the years ended March 3120092008 and 2007 and the balance sheet data as of March 312009 and 2008 are derived

from our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report The balance sheet data as of March 3120072006 and 2005 and

the statement of operations data for the years ended March 31 2006 and 2005 are derived from our consolidated financial statements that are not

included in this Annual Report Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any future period

Year Ended March 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA in thousands except pershare data

Revenue

New software licenses 51211 38838 43186 31976 29507

Software license updates technical support and services 43067 34787 28062 24226 19805

Professional services 28601 27721 23882 19913 14931

Total revenue 122879 101346 95130 76115 64243

Cost of revenue

New software licenses 3536 1035 638 657 778

Software license updates technical support and services 4665 4514 3264 2637 2348

Professional services 20911 19154 15904 13705 10154

Amortization of acquired technology 2172 1486 723 832 651

Total cost of revenue 31284 26189 20529 17831 13931

Gross profit 91595 75157 74601 58284 50312

Operating expenses

Research and development 30791 27471 21688 18643 15455

Sales and marketing 42533 39357 34133 26300 22803

General and administrative 11857 11747 10994 13375 9742

Total operating expenses 85181 78575 66815 58318 48000

Income loss from operations 6414 3418 7786 34 2312

Interest and other income net 1246 3579 3834 2680 1384

Income before provision benefit for income taxes 7660 161 11620 2646 3696

Provision benefit for income taxes 2928 372 3655 509 1644

Net income 4732 533 7965 2137 2052

Basicnetincomepercommonshare 0.23 0.03 0.39 0.10 0.10

Dilutednetincomepercommonshare 0.23 0.03 0.38 0.10 0.10

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 20296 20342 20358 20374 20158

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 20581 20621 21206 20604 20624

BALANCE SHEET DATA END OF PERIOD

Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities 91989 85829 91381 85861 82185

Total assets 166064 153538 147658 127347 125185

Long-term debt 103 150

Total stockholders equity 116505 110645 112871 99398 99965



OPNET Technologies Inc 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
dollars and share amounts in thousands except per share data

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction

with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes includ

ed elsewhere in this Annual Report.This discussion and analysis contains

forward-looking statements that involve risks uncertainties and assump

tions Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in

these forward-looking statements as result of certain factors including

but not limited to those set forth under Item Risk Factors in our

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 312009 as

filed with the Securities Exchange Commission on June 2009

Overview

OPNETTechnologies Inc is provider of software products and related

services for managing networks and applications Our software products

and related services address application performance management

network operations capacity management and network research and

development Our customers include corporate enterprises government

and defense agencies network service providers and network equip

ment manufacturers Our software products and related services are

designed to help our customers make better use of resources reduce

operational problems and improve competitiveness

We operate in one reportable industry segment the development and

sale of computer software programs and related services Our operations

are principally in the United States and we have subsidiaries in Australia

Belgium France Germany the United Kingdom and Singapore We pri

marily depend upon our direct sales force to generate revenue in the

United States Sales outside the United States are made through our

international sales team as well as third-party distributors and value-

added resellers who generally are responsible for providing technical

support and service to customers within their territory

Our revenue is derived from three primary sources new software

licenses software license updates technical support and services and

professional services which include consulting and training services

for customers without current maintenance agreements New software

license revenue represents all fees earned from granting customers licens

es to use our software and fees associated with hardware necessary to run

our software and excludes revenue derived from software license

updates which are included in software license updates technical sup

port and services revenue Our software master license agreement pro

vides our customers with the right to use our software either perpetual

ly which we refer to as perpetual licenses or during defined term gen

erally for one to four years which we refer to as term licenses For the year

ended March 31 2009 perpetual licenses represented approximately 93%

of software license revenue For the years ended March 312008 and 2007

perpetual licenses represented approximately 97% of software license

revenue Substantially all of our software license arrangements include

both perpetual and/or term licenses and software license updates tech

nical support and services Software license updates technical support

and services revenue represent fees associated with the sale of unspeci

fied license updates technical support and when-and-if available training

under our maintenance agreements We offer professional services

under both time-and-material and fixed-price agreements primarily to

facilitate the adoption of our software products

We consider our consulting services to be an integral part of our business

model as they are centered on our software product offerings Because

our consulting services facilitate the adoption of our software product

offerings we believe that they ultimately generate additional sales of

software licenses

The key strategies of our business plan include increasing sales to exist

ing customers increasing deal size by selling modules and introducing

new software products improving our sales and marketing execution

establishing alliances to extend our market reach increasing our interna

tional presence and increasing profitability We have focused our sales

marketing and other efforts on corporate enterprise and United States

government opportunities and to much lesser extent service provider

and network equipment manufacturer opportunities Our focus and

strategies are designed to increase revenue and profitability Because of

the uncertainty surrounding the amount and timing of revenue growth

we expect to need to closely control the increases in our total expenses

as we implement these strategies

In March 2008 we launched an initiative to extend our market reach by

establishing sales alliances with third parties called the Synergy program

The Synergy program is designed to increase the penetration of our soft

ware products into mid-sized organizations The Synergy programs focus

is on selling our application performance management software prod

ucts including ACE Live that provides end-user experience monitoring

and real-time application performance analytics as we believe these

software products are particularly well-suited for channel distribution

Summary of Our Fiscal 2009 Financial Performance

During fiscal 2009 our total revenue and profitability increased as com

pared to fiscal 2008 The increases resulted primarily from sales of our

application performance management products driven by our family of

ACE Live products During fiscal 2009 our operating expenses increased

by 8.4% as compared to fiscal 2008 The increase in operating expenses

was largely the result of increased personnel costs necessary to pursue

our growth strategies

Our cash cash equivalents and marketable securities balance as of March

312009 increased by $6.2 million as compared to March 312008 large

ly
due to cash flow generated from operations Our deferred revenue as

of March 312009 increased $2.6 million as compared to March 312008

primarily due to an increase in sales of software license updates techni

cal support and services arrangements

The following table summarizes information on some of our key financial

and operating metrics
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OPERATIONS DATA

Total revenue

Total cost of sales

Gross profit

Gross profit as percentage of total revenue gross margin

Total operating expenses

Income loss from operations

Income loss from operations as percentage

of total revenue operating margin

Net income

Diluted net income per common share

Total employees period end

Total average employees

Total consultants period end

Total period end quota-carrying sales persons

excluding directors and inside sales representatives

We achieved growth in all three revenue categories during fiscal 2009 as

compared to fiscal 2008 driven by growth in revenue from new software

licenses of $12.4 million and growth in revenue from software license

updates technical support and services of $8.3 million The growth in

revenue from new software licenses was largely due to an increase in

sales to corporate enterprise customers and to lesser extent service

providers The growth in revenue from software license updates techni

cal support and services was primarily result of growth in sales to cor

porate enterprises and to lesser extent sales to United States govern

ment customers The growth in revenue from professional services was

primarily due to an increase in demand for our consulting services by

service providers and to lesser extent corporate enterprise customers

While total revenue generated from sales to United States government

customers increased in absolute dollars by $2.1 million during fiscal 2009

to $43.3 million the percentage of revenue from United States govern

ment customers decreased to 35/b fl fiscal 2009 from 41% in fiscal 2008

The decrease in the percentage of revenue from United States govern

ment customers was the result of an increase in the percentage of rev

enue generated from corporate enterprise customers

Our international revenue increased 26.7% to $26.0 million or 21.1% of total

revenue for fiscal 2009 We expect revenue from sales outside the United

States to continue to account for significant portion of our total revenue

in the future International revenue in fiscal 2009 benefited from more

experienced direct sales force and our increased focus on sales to corporate

enterprises Sales to corporate enterprises accounted for the largest portion

of our international revenue during fiscal 2009 We believe that continued

growth and profitability will require further expansion of our sales market

ing and customer service functions in international markets

dollars in thousands except per
share data

$101346 21533

26189 5095

75157 $16438

74.2

During fiscal 2009 gross profit increased 21.9% to $91.6 million Our gross

margin increased slightly to 74.5% for fiscal 2009 from 74.2% in fiscal

2008 The increase in our gross margin was primarily due to an increase

in new software license revenue of $12.4 million in fiscal 2009 and to

lesser extent an increase in software license updates technical support

and services revenue of $8.3 million

During fiscal 2009 operating income increased to $6.4 million from loss

of $3.4 million during fiscal 2008 The increase in operating margin was

largely the result of an increase in revenue from new software licenses

and software license updates technical support and services revenue

partially offset by an increase in operating expenses

Trends That May Affect Our Business and Future Results

While we anticipate challenging economic environment in the near

term we believe the competitive advantages offered by our products

and our efforts to control operating expenses have positioned us well to

grow market share and drive profitability when economic conditions

improve The demand for our software products and related services by

corporate enterprise and United States government customers has

been much stronger than the demand from service providers and net

work equipment manufacturers which is consistent with our expecta

tions We believe that lower business activity with service providers and

network equipment manufacturers is primarily due to the weakened

economy in which these businesses operate which we expect to contin

ue at least in the near term Consequently our revenue growth and prof

itability depend in significant part upon our ability to sell in weakened

economic environment and the economic health of corporate enterpris

es and United States government agencies

Fiscal 2008 Amount
Change

Fiscal 2009

$122879

31284

91595

74.5

85181

6414

5.2%

4732

0.23

593

585

118

70

91989

12104

33133

Percentage

Change

21.2%

19.5%

21.9%

8.4%

287.7

787.8%

666.7%

5.9

4.5%

6.3%

78575

3418

3.4%

533

0.03

560

560

126

6606

9832

4199

0.20

33

25

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY DATA

Cash cash equivalents and marketable securities period end

Cash flows from operating activities

Total deferred revenue period end

70 0.0%

85829

12900

30494

6160

796

2639

7.2

6.2%

8.7
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We anticipate the following trends and patterns over the next several quarters

Total Revenue We believe the current economic environment could

make it more difficult to generate revenue domestically and internation

ally We expect future growth opportunities in revenue to come primarily

from sales to corporate enterprise customers and the United States gov

ernment as we believe our products offer competitive advantages in these

markets We expect revenue from sales to service providers and network

equipment manufacturers to fluctuate from quarter to quarter with the

potential for periods of declining license revenue Our ability to increase

professional services revenue will depend upon our ability to maintain sev

eral large consulting contracts with the United States government and to

attract and retain additional qualified consultants including those with

security clearances We also believe the increase in the proportion of sales

of our application performance management solutions as compared to

our other solutions may decrease demand for our consulting implemen

tation services as our application performance management solutions

generally require less time to implement As result of these factors we

believe that we may experience decreases in quarterly revenue

International Revenue Our international sales are affected by the mix

of direct and indirect sales channels and our ability to increase sales to

corporate enterprises We believe that these factors in addition to the

current economic environment will affect the timing of sales orders as

well as our ability to forecast future revenue As result our internation

al quarterly revenue in absolute dollars and as percentage of total rev

enue may decrease

Gross Profit Margin Our overall gross profit margin will continue to be

affected by the proportion of total revenue generated from new software

licenses as revenue from new software licenses and revenue from software

license updates technical support and services have substantially higher

gross margins than the gross margin on revenue from professional services

We anticipate continued increase in the cost of new software license rev

enue related to the cost of hardware necessary to deliver our ACE Live soft

ware products Our overall gross profit margin will also be affected by the

profitability of individual consulting engagements Amortization of tech

nology associated with the acquisition of technology we may make in

future periods could also affect our gross profit margin

Research and Development Expenses We believe that continued

investment in research and development will be required to maintain our

competitive position and broaden our software product lines as well as

enhance the features and functionality of our current software products

We made significant personnel investments in research and develop

ment during fiscal 2009 however given current economic conditions we

plan to invest more modestly in additional personnel during the next

several quarters We expect that the absolute dollar amount of these

expenses will continue to grow but generally decrease as percentage

of total revenue in future periods Our ability to decrease these expens

es as percentage of revenue will depend upon increases in our rev

enue among other factors

Sales and Marketing Expenses We depend upon our direct sales

model to generate revenue and believe that increasing the size of our

quota-carrying sales team is essential for long-term growth We made

significant personnel investments in sales and marketing during fiscal

2009 Given the current economic environment we plan to invest mod

estly in additional quota-carrying sales personnel during the coming

quarters Additionally we have taken specific steps to significantly reduce

the dollar amount of marketing expenditures we intend to make during

fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 Consequently we expect the

absolute dollar amount of sales and marketing expenses to remain rela

tively flat over the next several quarters but generally decrease as per

centage of total revenue in future periods Our ability to lower these

expenses as percentage of revenue will depend upon increases in our

revenue among other factors

General and Administrative Expenses We expect the dollar amount

of general and administrative expenses to remain relatively flat over the

next several quarters but generally decrease as percentage of total rev

enue in future periods Our ability to lower these expenses as percentage

of revenue will depend upon increases in our revenue among other factors

Operating Margin Since significant portion of our software license

arrangements close in the latter part of each quarter we may not be able

to adjust our cost structure in the short-term to respond to lower than

expected revenue which would adversely impact our operating margin

and earnings Our operating margin increased to positive 5.2% during fis

cal 2009 from negative 3.4% during fiscal 2008 We remain committed to

increasing profitability and generating long-term growth As result of

the challenging economic environment we have taken number of

steps to control our operating expenses and maximize our operating

margin We do not believe that additional changes to our cost structure

are necessary at this time but we intend to closely monitor and control

expenses in order to maximize our profitability

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The accompanying discussion and analysis of our financial condition and

results of operations are based upon our audited consolidated financial

statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America or GAAR

The preparation of these financial statements requires that we make esti

mates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabil

ities revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities.We base our estimates on historical experience and on var

ious other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the cir

cumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments

about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources Actual results could differ from the esti

mates made by management with respect to these and other items that

require managements estimates

We have identified the accounting policies that are critical to understand

ing our historical and future performance as these policies affect the

reported amounts of revenue and the more significant areas involving

managements judgments and estimates These critical accounting poli

cies relate to revenue recognition and deferred revenue stock based

compensation allowance for doubtful accounts valuation of long-lived

assets including intangible assets and impairment review of goodwill

software development costs and income taxes These policies and our

procedures related to these policies are described in detail below In
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addition please refer to Note ito our consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion of our

accounting policies

Revenue Recognition We derive revenue from three primary sources

new software licenses software license updates technical support and

services which include software license update certain training provided

and offered on when-and-if available basis to customers and technical sup

port and professional services which include consulting and custom

training services for customers without current maintenance agreement

We recognize revenue based on the provisions of the American Institute of

Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position or SOP No 97-2

Software Revenue Recognitionas amended by SOP No 98-9Modification

of SOP No 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain

Transactions SOP No 81-1 Accounting for Performance of Construction-

Type and Certain Production-Type Contractsand the SEC Staff Accounting

Bulletin No 104Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements

New Software License Revenue

New software license revenue represents all fees earned from granting

customers licenses to use our software and excludes revenue derived

from software license updates which are included in software license

updates technical support and services revenue Our new software

license revenue consists of perpetual and term license sales of software

products For the year ended March 31 2009 perpetual licenses repre

sented approximately 93% of software license revenue For the years

ended March 312008 and 2007 perpetual licenses represented approx

imately 97% of software license revenue New software license revenue

is recognized when the following four criteria are met persuasive evi

dence of an arrangement exists iidelivery of the software has occurred

iii the software license fee is fixed or determinable and iv collectibili

ty is probable We define each of these four criteria as follows

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists For license

arrangements with end-users it is our customary practice to have

written software license agreement which is signed by both the end

user and us and purchase order or equivalent written contract can

be executed based on the customer-specific format or on the standard

shrink wrap software master license agreement For those end users

who have previously negotiated software license agreement with us

the initial software license agreement is used as evidence of written

contract Sales to distributors resellers and value-added resellers

which we collectively refer to as resellers are primarily made outside of

North America and are evidenced by master reseller agreement gov

erning the relationship which is signed by both the reseller and us

together with purchase order on transaction-by-transaction basis

To further evidence an arrangement our master reseller agreement

requires that the reseller provide us copies of the end users executed

software master license agreements

Delivery has occurred Physical delivery of our software products to

end users or resellers which are collectively referred to as customers is

generally considered to have occurred upon the transfer of media con

taining our software products to common carrier usually FOB ship-

ping point based on standard agreement terms Software products

may also be delivered electronically to end users Electronic delivery is

deemed to occur after end users have been provided with access codes

that allow them to take immediate possession of the software If soft

ware arrangement includes undelivered software products or services

that are essential to the functionality of delivered software products

delivery is not considered to have occurred until these software prod

ucts or services are delivered

The fee is fixed or determinable It is our policy to not provide cus

tomers the right to any adjustments or refund of any portion of their

license fees paid acceptance provisions cancellation privileges or

rights of return Our normal payment terms for our software products

and services currently range from net 30 days to net 90 days and prima

rily vary based on the country in which an agreement is executed

Payments that extend beyond our normal payment terms from the

contract date but that are due within six months are generally deemed

to be fixed or determinable based on our successful collection history

on such arrangements and thereby satisfy the required criteria for rev

enue recognition Arrangements with payment terms extending

beyond six months are considered not to be fixed or determinable and

revenue from such arrangements is recognized as payments become

due and payable

Collectibility is probable Collectibility is assessed on customer-by-

customer basis We typically sell to customers for whom there is his

tory of successful collection New customers are subject to credit

review process that evaluates the customers ability to pay If we deter

mine from the outset of an arrangement that collectibility is not prob

able revenue is recognized as cash is collected

In instances when any of the four criteria are not met we defer recogni

tion of software license revenue until the criteria are met When the sale

of the software product requires us to make significant enhancements

customization or modifications to the software that are essential to its

functionality software license revenue and consulting fees are recog

nized using contract accounting under SOP No 81-i We estimate the

percentage-of-completion under SOP No.81-i based on our estimate

of total hours to complete the project as percentage of total hours

incurred and the estimated hours to complete

The process of estimation inherent in the application of the percentage-

of-completion method of accounting for revenue is subject to judgments

and uncertainties and may affect the amounts of software license rev

enue and professional services revenue under certain contracts and relat

ed expenses reported in our consolidated financial statements num

ber of internal and external factors can affect our estimates to complete

client engagements including skill level and experience of project man

agers staff assigned to engagements and continuity and attrition level

of professional services staff Changes in the estimated stage of comple

tion of particular project could create variability in our revenue and

results of operations if it is required to increase or decrease previously

recognized revenue related to particular project or if it expects to incur

loss on the project
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Software License Updates Technicai Support and Services Revenue

Software license updates technical support and services revenue repre

sents fees associated with the sale of license updates training and tech

nical support all provided on when-and-if-available basis except tech

nical support under our maintenance agreement Payments for software

license updates technical support and services on the initial order or on

renewals are generally made in advance and are nonrefundable License

updates consist of the right to unspecified software updates on when-

and-if-available basis and are typically entered into in connection with

the initial software license purchase License updates technical support

and services may be renewed upon expiration of the term Customers

can purchase license updates separately from technical support and

services Revenue from license updates technical support and services

is deferred and recognized as revenue on straight-line basis over the

term of the maintenance agreement

Revenue under multiple-element arrangements which typically include

new software licenses consulting services training and maintenance

agreements sold together are allocated to each element in the arrange

ment primarily using the residual method based upon the fair value of

the undelivered elements which is specific to our vendor-specific objec

tive evidence of fair value or VSOE This means that we defer revenue

from the arrangement fee equivalent to the fair value of the undelivered

elements Discounts if any are applied to the delivered elements usual

ly software licenses under the residual method For periodic unspecified

product updates and technical support agreements VSOE is based upon

either the renewal rate specified in each contract or the price charged

when sold separately For consulting services and training for customers

without current maintenance agreement VSOE is based upon the rates

charged for these services when sold separately

If we are unable to establish VSOE for an undelivered post contract sup

port or PCS element for example in two-year term license where the

license term and PCS are coterminous and no PCS renewal period exists

all revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period For income

statement classification purposes our allocation methodology is based

on VSOE of fair value for our professional services which is determined by

the price charged when sold separately and the contractually stated

renewal rates for our PCS generally 18% to 21% of the license fee paid

on perpetual licenses We use the residual method to allocate any

remaining arrangement fee to new software license revenue

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue consists of fees from consulting services

and training for customers without current maintenance agreement

and is recognized as the services are performed When we enter into con

sulting service arrangements that include significant modifications to the

software that are essential to the customers use and the arrangement is

bundled with software revenue under the entire arrangement is recog

nized under the percentage-of-completion method For income state

ment classification purposes we have developed revenue allocation

methodology for these arrangements that is consistent with the residual

method used and described under SOP No 97-2 when services are not

essential to the functionality of the software In these circumstances rev-

enue is allocated to the various elements of the arrangement based on

our VSOE of fair value and the residual amount is allocated to new soft

ware license revenue

We sell new software licenses license updates technical support and

services agreements to distributors at predetermined prices Sales to dis

tributors are not contingent upon resale of the software to the end user

In most cases we provide license updates technical support and servic

es agreements directly to distributors and the distributors provide sup

port to the end customer Revenue from sales to distributors is recorded

at the amounts charged to the distributor and in the same manner as

new software license license updates technical support and services

sales sold through our direct sales force Amounts received in advance of

revenue recognition are classified as deferred revenue

Sales taxes and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to

governmental authorities are presented on net basis and as such are

excluded from revenues

Income Taxes The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as

of April 2008 was $838000 Of this total $808000 represents the

amount of unrecognized tax benefits net of federal benefit on state

issues that if recognized would favorably affect the effective income tax

rate in any future periods At March 31 2009 the gross unrecognized

benefit was $804000 $775000 of which would favorably affect the effec

tive income tax rate in future periods reconciliation of the beginning

and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal 2009 and 2008

follows

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 2008

Gross increases current period tax positions

Lapse of statute of limitations

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2009

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 2007

Gross decreases tax positions in prior period

Gross increases current period tax positions

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2008

The following table summarizes the tax years that are either currently

under audit or remain open under the statute of limitations and are sub

ject to examination by the tax authorities in the most significant jurisdic

tions that we operate

Australia

Belgium

France

Germany

United Kingdom

United States

Maryland

New York

in thousands

838

139

159

14

804

in thousands

810

80
79

29

838

FYO5FYO8

FY05 FY08

FYO6FYO8

FY04 FY08

FY08

FY06 FY08

FYO4FYO8

FY07 FY08
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Our continuing practice is to recognize interest if any related to income

tax matters in interest expense in our consolidated statements of oper

ations and penalties as part of general and administrative expense in our

consolidated statements of operations During fiscal 2008 we recognized

$6000 in potential interest expense associated with uncertain tax posi

tions During fiscal 2009 we recognized $4000 in potential interest

expense associated with uncertain tax positions and reversed $17000

associated with potential claims now barred by the statute of limitations

The total accrued interest and accrued penalties related to uncertain tax

positions at March 31 2009 was $13000 and $2000 respectively

We believe it is reasonably possible that significant changes in the liabil

ity
for uncertain tax positions will occur in the next twelve months as

result of final decisions related to the voluntary payments of our state

and local income taxes and lapse of statute of limitations In the aggre

gate we believe the
liability

for uncertain tax positions could decrease by

$276000 in the next twelve months

The income tax provision includes income taxes currently payable plus

the net change during the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities Deferred

tax assets and liabilities reflect the differences between the carrying value

under GAAP and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted statu

tory tax rates in effect for the period in which the differences are expect

ed to reverse Judgments and estimates are required in the calculation of

the deferred tax assets valuation allowance accrual of contingencies

research and development tax credits and foreign tax credits

Stock-Based Compensation SFAS No 23R requires an entity to rec

ognize an expense within its income statement for all share-based pay

ment arrangements which includes employee stock option plans

restricted stock grants and Employee Stock Purchase Plan or ESPP We

have elected to continue straight-line amortization of stock-based com

pensation expense for the entire award over the service period since the

awards have only service conditions and graded vesting Our stock

options and nonvested stock do not contain performance conditions

There have been no modifications to awards in 2009 or 2008

Our stock option grants are accounted for as equity awards The expense

is based on the grant-date fair value of the options granted and is rec

ognized over the requisite service period

To estimate the grant-date fair value of our stock options we use the

Black-Schotes option-pricing model consistent with that used for pro

forma disclosure under SFAS No 123 The Black-Scholes model estimates

the per share fair value ofan option on its date of grant based on the fol

lowing the options exercise price the price of the underlying stock on

the date of grant the estimated dividend yield risk-free interest rate

the estimated option term and the expected volatility For therisk-free

interest rate we use U.S.Treasury bond due in number of years equal

to the options expected term To estimate expected volatility we ana

lyzed the historic volatility of our common stock There were no stock

options granted in fiscal 2009

Compensation cost for stock option grants is recognized on straight-

line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award from the

date of grant through the period of the last separately vesting portion of

the grant Compensation cost is recognized within the income statement

in the same expense line as the cash compensation paid to the respective

employees SFAS No 123R also requires us to estimate forfeitures in calcu

lating the expense related to stock-based compensation We have conclud

ed that our historical forfeiture rate is the best measure to estimate future

forfeitures of granted stock options.The impact on compensation costs due

to changes in the expected forfeiture rate will be recognized in the period

that they become known All of our stock options are fully
vested As result

during fiscal 2009 we adjusted our expected forfeiture rate to reflect actu

al stock option forfeitures.The adjustment of our forfeiture rate did not have

significant impact on the financial statements

Our restricted stock grants are accounted for as equity awards The

expense is based on the price of our common stock and is recognized on

straight-line basis over the requisite service period We did not grant

any restricted stock prior to February 2006 The restricted stock agree

ments do not contain any post-vesting restrictions We have concluded

that our historical forfeiture rate is the best measure to estimate future

forfeitures of granted stock options As of March 31 2009 nonvested

stock-based deferred compensation associated with restricted stock

totaled $1.6 million which we expect to be recognized over weighted

average period of 1.1 years

Our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan or ESPP provides all eligible

employees to collectively purchase up to total of 650000 shares of our

common stock An employee may authorize payroll deduction up to

maximum of 10% of his or her compensation during the plan period.The

purchase price for each share purchased is the lesser of 85% of the clos

ing price of the common stock on the first or last day of the plan period

The plan period for the ESPP ends on the last day of January and July of

each year To estimate the fair value of shares issued under our ESPP we

use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model The Black-Scholes model

estimates the per share fair value of an ESPP share at the beginning of the

plan period based on the following the price of the underlying stock on

the first day of the plan period the estimated dividend yield risk-free

interest rate the term of the plan period six months and the expected

volatility For the risk-free interest rate we use U.S Treasury Bond due

in six months.To determine expected volatility we analyze the historical

volatility of our stock over the months prior to the first day of the plan

period The expense is calculated based on the difference between the

fair market value of the shares purchased at the close of each plan peri

od and the discounted price paid by the employee and that expense is

recognized on straight-line basis over the plan period As of March 31

2009 nonvested stock-based deferred compensation associated with the

ESPP totaled $181000 and is expected to be recognized over weight

ed average period of months

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities In September 2006 the

Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB issued Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value Measurementsor SFAS

No 57.This standard clarifies the principle that fair value should be based

on the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an

asset or liability Additionally it establishes fair value hierarchy that prior

itizes the information used to develop those assumptions SFAS No 157 is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 We adopted SEAS No 157 effective April 2008
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SFAS No 157 requires disclosures regarding the manner in which fair

value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes three-

tiered value hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities must be

grouped based upon significant levels of inputs as follows

Level Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities

Level Observable inputs other than Level prices such as quoted

prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities in markets that

are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborat

ed by observable inputs

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market

activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

This includes certain pricing models discounted cash flow methodolo

gies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the

entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy We view auction rate

securities or ARS as Level assets corporate notes as Level assets and

money market funds as Level assets

The following table summarizes the composition of our marketable secu

rities at March 31 2009 and 2008

March 31 2009

March 31 2008

in thousands

381 8419

6000

381 14419

Classification on Balance Sheet

Short-Term Long-Term

Investments Investments

1451 6968

6000

7451 6968

The following table details the fair value measurements within the three levels of fair value hierarchy of our financial assets consisting of cash equiv

alents and marketable securities at March 31 2009

Money market funds

Corporate note

Total

Total Fair Value At

March 31 2009

Fair Value Measurement at March 312009 Using

Level Level Level

999

At March 312009 we grouped money market funds using Level valuation because market prices in active markets for identical assets were read

ily available The per-share net asset value of our money market funds has remained at constant amount of $1.00 per share Also as of March 31

2009 there were no withdrawal limits on redemptions for any of the money market funds that we hold At March 31 2009 we grouped corporate

notes using Level valuation because we used quoted prices in active markets for similar assets to determine the fair value The contractual matu

rity for the corporate note is July 2009 We did not group any financial assets using Level valuation at March 31 2009

Unrealized Loss

in thousands

Value

Classification on Balance Sheet

Market Short-Term Long-TermAmortized Gross Gross

Cost Unrealized Gain

Corporate notes 999

Total marketable securities 999

Amortized

Cost

Auction rate securities 8800

Municipal securities 6000

Total marketable securities 14800

Investments Investments

999 999

999 999

Gross Gross

Unrealized Gain Unrealized Loss

Market

Value

in thousands

79231 79231

999

80230 79231

999
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The following table summarizes the activity for our ARS measured at fair

value using Level inputs

Balance as of March 31 2008

Redemptions at par

Total gains and losses

Included in earnings realized

Change in unrealized gains included

in accumulated other comprehensive income

Balance as of March 31 2009

All investments in ABS were considered Level investments as of the

date of adoption of SFAS No.157

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts We maintain an allowance for

doubtful accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting from the

inability of our customers to make required payments and for the limit

ed circumstances when the customer disputes the amounts due us Our

methodology for determining this allowance requires significant esti

mates In estimating the allowance we consider the age of the receiv

able the creditworthiness of the customer the economic conditions of

the customers industry and general economic conditions While we

believe that the estimates we use are reasonable should any of these fac

tors change our estimates may also change which could affect the

amount of our future allowance for doubtful accounts as well as future

operating income Specifically if the financial condition of our customers

were to deteriorate resulting in an impairment of their ability to make pay

ments to us additional allowances could be required As of March 312009

and 2008 accounts receivable totaled $29.6 million and $26.1 million net

of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $713000 and $154000 respec

tively

Valuation of Intangible Assets and Goodwill We account for our

goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No 141

Business Combinations and SEAS No 142 Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets Our intangible assets consist of acquired technology

related to our acquisitions of software product for modeling voice com
munications in December 2003 Altaworks in October 2004 and pur

chased technology we purchased from RadView Software Ltd in

December 2005 SQMworks Inc in April 2006 and Network Physics Inc

in October 2007 Our intangible assets also consist of customer relation

ships and acquired workforce assets we purchased from Network

Physics Inc related to the purchase of specified assets of Network Physics

in October 2007 The acquired and purchased technology are stated at

the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value and are amortized

on straight-line basis over their expected useful lives of three to five

years Our customer relationship and workforce intangible assets we pur

chased from Network Physics Inc are amortized on an accelerated

depreciation basis over their expected useful lives of four and one half

years and five years respectively We use the projected discounted cash

flow method in valuing our acquired technology and purchased cus

tomer relationships using certain assumptions including revenue

growth cost levels present value discount rate and working capital

requirements We use the lower of the amount of cash paid or the pres

ent value of projected discounted cash flows to value purchased technol

ogy.The workforce asset associated with the purchase of specified assets

of Network Physics Inc was valued on replacement cost basis While we

believe the assumptions used to value our acquired technology related

to acquisitions are reasonable actual results will likely differ from those

assumptions Future cash flows are subject to change for variety of

internal and external factors We will periodically review the value of

acquired technology and purchased intangible assets for reasonableness

in accordance with SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets If changes in our assumptions at the time

of future periodic reviews indicate that the carrying value of our

acquired technology and purchased intangible assets exceeds their fair

value and we determine that carrying amounts can not be recovered it

would result in impairment losses As of March 312009 and 2008 intan

gible assets totaled $6.2 million and $8.6 million net of accumulated

amortization of $7.7 million and $5.3 million respectively No impairment

losses have been recorded to date

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration paid for acquisitions

exceeds the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired

Goodwill is not amortized We perform an annual review no later than

our fourth quarter to identify any facts or circumstances that indicate the

carrying value of goodwill is impaired The review is based on various

analyses including cash flow and profitability projections and the market

capitalization of our common stock Impairment if any is based on the

excess of the carrying amount of goodwill over its fair value We per

formed our annual impairment test of goodwill as of March 312009 and

2008 and concluded that there was no goodwill impairment As of March

31 2009 and 2008 goodwill was $14.6 million No impairment losses

have been recorded to date

Accounting for Software Development Costs Costs incurred in the

research and development of new software products are expensed as

incurred until technological feasibility is established Development costs

are capitalized beginning when products technological feasibility has

been established and ending when the product is available for general

release to our customers Technological feasibility is reached when the

product reaches the working model stage To date products and

enhancements have generally reached technological feasibility and have

been released for sale at substantially the same time and all research and

development costs have been expensed Consequently no research and

development costs were capitalized in fiscal 2009 2008 or 2007

ARS

in thousands

8419

8800

381
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth items from our consolidated statements of operations expressed as percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated

REVENUE

New software licenses

Software license updates technical support and services

Professional services

Total revenue

COST OF REVENUE

New software licenses 2.9 1.0 0.7

Software license updates technical support and services 3.8 4.4 3.4

Professional services 17.0 18.9 16.7

Amortization of acquired technology 1.8 1.5 0.8

Total cost of revenue 25.5 25.8 21.6

Gross profit 74.5 74.2 78.4

OPERATING EXPENSES

Research and development 25.1 27.1 22.8

Sales and marketing 34.6 38.9 35.8

General and administrative 9.6 1.6 1.6

Total operating expenses 69.3 77.6 70.2

Income loss from operations 5.2 3.4 8.2

Interest and other income net 1.0 3.5 4.0

Income before provision benefit for income taxes 6.2 0.1 12.2

Provision benefit for income taxes 2.3 0.4 3.8

Net income 3.9% 0.5 8.4%

Revenue

New Software License Revenue New software licenses revenue was

$51.2 million $38.8 million and $43.2 million in fiscal 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively representing an increase of 31.9% in fiscal 2009 from

fiscal 2008 and decrease of 10.1% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 For fis

cal 2009 the increase in license revenue was primarily due to an increase

in sales to corporate enterprise customers and service providers The

increase was primarily due to an increase in revenue from our

Applications Performance Management products For fiscal 2008 the

decrease in license revenue was primarily due to decrease in sales to

United States and international government customers partially offset

by an increase in sales to corporate enterprise customers

Software License Updates Technical Support and Services Revenue

Software license updates technical support and services revenue was

$43.1 million $34.8 million and $28.1 million in fiscal 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively representing increases of 23.8% in fiscal 2009 from fis

cal 2008 and 24.0% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 Software license

updates technical support and services revenue growth rates are affect

ed by the overall new software license revenue growth rates as well as

the renewal rate of annual maintenance contracts by existing customers

The increase in software license updates technical support and services

revenue in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 primarily reflected increases in the

overall customer installed base as compared to the prior fiscal year

Professional Services Revenue The components of professional serv

ices revenue for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

Consulting services

Training and other revenue

Professional service

in thousands

27949 27099 22399

652 622 1483

28601 27721 23882

Professional services revenue was $28.6 million $27.7 million and $23.9

million in fiscal 20092008 and 2007 respectively representing increas

es of 3.2% in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 and 16.1% in fiscal 2008 from

fiscal 2007 Consulting services revenue accounted for 97.7% 97.8% and

93.8% of professional services revenue for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively For fiscal 2009 the increase in professional services revenue

was primarily due to an increase in demand for our consulting services

by service providers and to lesser extent corporate enterprise cus

tomers For fiscal 2008 the increase in professional services revenue was

largely due to growing demand for our consulting services by United

States government customers and to lesser extent corporate enter

prise customers Revenue from consulting services provided to United

States government customers for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 was $18.4

million $18.6 million and $15.8 million respectively representing

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007

23.3 27.4 25.1

100.0 100.0 100.0

41.7% 38.3/o 45.4%

35.0 34.3 29.5

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007
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decrease of 1.4% in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 and an increase of 17.7%

in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 Training and other revenue was $652000

$622000 and $1.5 million in fiscal 20092008 and 2007 respectively.The

increase in training and other revenue in fiscal 2009 as compared to fis

cal 2008 was due to increased sales of our training services to service

providers which was offset bya decrease in sales to corporate enterprise

customers The decrease in training revenue in fiscal 2008 as compared

to fiscal 2007 was the result of offering training at no cost to maintained

customers on when-and-if available basis beginning January 2007

International Revenue Our international revenue increased 26.7% to

$26.0 million or 21.1% of total revenue in fiscal 2009 from $20.5 million

or 20.2% of total revenue for fiscal 2008 Our international revenue

increased 2.2% during fiscal 2008 from $20.1 million or 21.1% of total rev

enue for fiscal 2007 The increase in international revenue in fiscal 2009

was primarily the result of an increase in sales to international government

customers and service providers which was partially offset by decrease

in sales to international corporate enterprise customers The increase in

international revenue in fiscal 2008 was primarily the result of an increase

in sales to international corporate enterprise customers Our internation

al revenue is primarily generated in Europe and Japan Our goal is to

increase sales to international corporate enterprise customers

International revenue from corporate enterprises comprised the largest

portion of international revenue for fiscal 2009 During fiscal 2009 2008

and 2007 we expanded our operations outside the United States through

the hiring of additional direct sales persons in our foreign subsidiaries

Cost of Revenue

The following table sets forth for each component of revenue the cost

of the revenue as percentage of the related revenue for the periods

indicated

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007

Cost of new software licenses 6.9%

Cost of software license updates

technical support and services

Cost of professional services

Cost of new software license revenue consists primarily of the cost of

hardware platforms associated with the delivery of some software prod

ucts royalties and to lesser extent media manuals and distribution

costs Cost of license updates technical support and services revenue

consists of personnel-related costs necessary to provide technical sup

port and training to customers with active maintenance contracts on

when-and-if-available basis royalties media and distribution costs Cost

of professional services revenue consists primarily of personnel-related

costs necessary to provide consulting and training to customers without

active maintenance contracts Gross margins on new software license

revenue and software license updates technical support and services

revenue are substantially higher than gross margin on professional serv

ices revenue due to the low cost of delivering new software licenses and

providing technical support and maintenance compared with the rela

tively high personnel costs associated with providing consulting servic

es and customer training

Cost of New Software License Revenue Cost of software license rev

enue was $3.5 million $1.0 million and $638000 in fiscal 20092008 and

2007 respectively Gross margin on software license revenue was 93.1%

97.3% and 98.5% for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

increase in costs and the decrease in gross margin for fiscal 2009 as com

pared to fiscal 2008 was primarily the result of $2.1 million increase in

the cost of hardware platforms associated with delivery of our ACE Live

software products The increase in costs and the decrease in gross mar

gin for fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily the result of

$383000 in hardware costs associated with our ACE Live software prod

ucts Our ACE Live software products were released during the three

months ended December 31 2007 Accordingly the cost of hardware

associated with our ACE Live software products had not previously been

recorded as cost of new software license revenue

Cost of Software License Updates Technical Support and Services

Revenue Cost of software license updates technical support and serv

ices revenue was $4.7 million $4.5 million and $3.3 million in fiscal 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively Gross margin on software license updates

technical support and services revenue was 89.2% 87.0% and 88.4% for

fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The cost of software license

updates technical support and services revenue is primarily affected by

the cost of labor associated with providing technical support and related

services to customers with technical support contracts and to lesser

extent royalty payments required for some of our license update sales The

increase in costs was primarily the result of an $82000 increase in person

nel costs necessary to provide technical support and $42000 increase in

royalty payments required for some of our license update sales partially

offset by $97000 decrease in costs necessary to provide training to cus

tomers with maintenance contracts.The increase in gross margin for fiscal

year 2009 as compared to 2008 was primarily the result of 23.8% increase

in software license updates technical support and services revenue The

increase in costs and the decrease in gross margin for fiscal year 2008 as

compared to 2007 was largely related to $693000 increase in costs nec

essary to provide training to customers with maintenance contracts and

$331000 increase in personnel costs necessary to provide technical sup

port Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of software

license updates technical support and services was $20000 $21000 and

$16000 for fiscal 20092008 and 2007 respectively

Cost of Professional Services Revenue Cost of professional services

revenue was $20.9 million $19.2 million and $15.9 million in fiscal 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively Gross margin on professional services rev

enue decreased to 26.9% for fiscal 2009 from 30.9% in fiscal 2008 Gross

margin on professional services revenue decreased to 30.9% for fiscal

2008 from 33.4% for fiscal 2007.The increase in cost of professional serv

ices in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was largely due to $1.8 million

increase in direct labor expense attributable to the use of more external

contractors The increase in cost of professional services in fiscal 2008

from fiscal 2007 was primarily due to an increase in our consulting staff

necessary to meet demand for our services We had 118 126 and 111

consulting employees at the end of fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respec

tively The decrease in gross margin on professional services in fiscal 2009

from fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the increase in direct labor costs

The decrease in gross margin on professional services in fiscal 2008 from

10.8

73.1

2.7

13.0

69.1

1.5%

11.6

66.6
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fiscal 2007 was primarily due to lower effective billing rates for consult

ing projects during fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 We expect the

cost of professional services revenue as percentage of professional

services revenue to vary based primarily on the profitability of individual

consulting engagements and to lesser extent costs necessary to

recruit and train new consulting staff Stock-based compensation

expense included in cost of professional services was $113000 $148000

and $1 75000 for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Research and development expenses

were $30.8 million $27.5 million and $21.7 million in fiscal 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively representing increases of 12.1% in fiscal 2009

from fiscal 2008 and 26.7% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007.The increase in

fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was primarily due to $3.1 million increase

in personnel costs as result of increased staffing levels The increase in

fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primarily due to higher personnel costs

as result of increased staffing levels required for developing new prod

ucts as well as sustaining and upgrading existing products We do not

capitalize research and development costs since we release our products

to the public at the same time that technological feasibility is reached

We had 192 185 and 161 research and development employees at the

end of fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Stock-based compensa

tion expense included in research and development was $591000

$568000 and $533000 for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses were $42.5 mil

lion $39.4 million and $34.1 million in fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively.The 8.1% increase in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was due to

$3.5 million increase in personnel costs and commission expense as

result of increased staffing levels and increased sales which was partial

ly
offset by $265000 reduction in travel expenses and $217000

reduction in marketing costs The 15.3% increase in fiscal 2008 from fis

cal 2007 was due to an increase in personnel costs and commission

expense of $3.4 million travel costs of $537000 facility costs of $506000

and conference costs of $428000 Our sales and marketing personnel

increased 14.3% to 192 in fiscal 2009 from 168 in fiscal 2008.The increas

es in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 and in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 were

the result of efforts to pursue our growth strategies Stock-based com

pensation expense included in sales and marketing was $376000

$374000 and $329000 for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses

were $11.9 million $11.7 million and $11.0 million in fiscal 20092008

and 2007 respectively The slight increase in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008

was largely due to an increase in bad debt expense rent expense prop

erty tax expense and compensation expense partially offset by

decrease in facility expense and professional services costs The 6.8%

increase in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primarily due to an increase

in professional services costs The increase in professional services costs

during fiscal 2008 was largely due to $720000 in fees related to the

acquisition of specified assets of Network Physics Stock-based compen
sation expense included in general and administrative was $433000

$428000 and $409000 for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Interest and Other Income net Interest and other income net was

$1.2 million $3.6 million and $3.8 million in fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively.The decrease in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was primarily the

result of change in our portfolio holdings to predominately United

States government-backed money market funds from mix of United

States government-backed money market funds and investment grade

marketable securities and to lesser extent decrease in the interest

rates earned on our investment holdings The decrease in fiscal 2008

from fiscal 2007 was primarily due to decrease in the aggregate balance

of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rates were positive

38.2% negative 231% and positive 32% for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively For fiscal 2009 the effective tax rate differed from the statu

tory tax rate principally due to state income taxes differential in the

United States and foreign tax rates research and development credits

and the domestic production activities deduction The increase in our

effective tax rate in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was primarily due to an

increase in our book income which diluted the impact of permanent dif

ferences as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year The

decrease in our effective tax rate in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was pri

marily the result ofa decrease in book income and an increase in perma

nent book to tax differences such as tax exempt interest income The

effective tax rate differs from the statutory tax rate and varies from peri

od to period due principally to the amount of income before taxes from

various tax jurisdictions tax-exempt interest income foreign tax

expense and the amount of tax credits available to us in each period

from incremental research expenditures Future provisions for taxes will

depend among other things on the mix and amount of worldwide

income the tax rates in effect for various tax jurisdictions and the amount

of research and development tax credits foreign tax credits and other

items for which we are eligible

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 312009 and 2008 we had cash cash equivalents short-term

and long-term marketable securities totaling $92.0 million and $85.8 mil

lion respectively Due to our available cash balances and our anticipat

ed cash requirements we do not believe that the current credit crisis will

have material impact on our operational cash requirements

Cash provided by operating activities was $12.1 million $12.9 million and

$6.2 million for fiscal 20092008 and 2007 respectively Cash provided by

operating activities is primarily derived from net income as adjusted for

non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization expense tax ben

efits from the exercise of employee stock options and changes in oper

ating assets and liabilities The decrease in cash provided by operating

activities in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was primarily attributable to an

increase in accounts receivable and decrease in the growth of deferred

revenue during fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 which was partial

ly offset by an increase in cash resulting from an increase in net income

and accrued liabilities The increase in cash provided by operating activi

ties in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable to an increase

in cash resulting from an increase in depreciation and amortization

expense deferred revenue and accounts payable and accrued expenses
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which was partially offset by an decrease in cash resulting from decrease

in net income and an increase in prepaid expenses

Net cash provided by investing activities was $8.3 million and $27.3 mil

lion in fiscal 2009 and 2008 respectively Net cash used in investing activ

ities was $41.4 million in fiscal 2007 Investing activities include the pur

chase sale or maturity of marketable securities acquisition of property

and equipment and net expenditures for business combinations and

technology acquisitions For fiscal 2009 we used funds of $999000 to

purchase short-term marketable securities and funds of $5.5 million to

purchase property and equipment We received proceeds of $14.8 mil

lion from the sale or maturity of short-term and long-term marketable

securities for fiscal 2009 For fiscal 2008 we used funds of $10.0 million

to purchase specified assets from Network Physics funds of $114.8 mil

lion to purchase short-term and long-term marketable securities and

funds of $4.6 million to purchase property and equipment We received

proceeds of $156.6 million from the sale or maturity of short-term mar

ketable securities for fiscal 2008 For fiscal 2007 funds were used to pur

chase short-term marketable securities of $109.6 million purchase

property and equipment of $3.5 million and purchase intangible assets

of $366000 Proceeds from the sale or maturity of short-term marketable

securities were $72.2 million for fiscal 2007

Cash provided by financing activities was $861000 in fiscal 2009 Cash

used in financing activities was $3.6 million for fiscal 2008 Cash provid

ed by financing activities was $2.5 million for fiscal 2007 We used cash

of $955000 to acquire 75724 shares of treasury stock during fiscal 2009

We used cash of $5.0 million to acquire 521849 shares of treasury stock

during fiscal 2008 We used cash of $1.5 million to acquire 104000 shares

of treasury stock during fiscal 2007 During fiscal 2009 and 2008 15724

and 6474 shares respectively were withheld from employees to satisfy

the minimum statutory tax withholding obligations with respect to the

income recognized by these employees upon the vesting of their restrict

ed stock shares during the period Cash provided by financing activities

generally reflects the proceeds received from the exercise of stock

options and the sale of common stock under our employee stock pur

chase plan During fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 we received proceeds of

approximately $644000 $365000 and $3.0 million respectively and

issued 92648 59975 and 381153 shares of common stock pursuant to

employee and director exercises of stock options During fiscal 2009

2008 and 2007 we received proceeds of approximately $1.1 million

$989000 and $753000 respectively and issued 150712 20295 and

84072 shares of common stock respectively pursuant to the issuance of

common stock under our employee stock purchase plan Excess tax ben

efits from the exercise of stock options are presented as cash flow from

financing activities For fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 excess tax benefits

from the exercise of stock options were $49000 $29000 and $383000

respectively

We have commitments under contractual arrangements to make future

payments for goods and services These contractual arrangements

secure the rights to various assets and services to be used in the future

in the normal course of business For example we are contractually com
mitted to make minimum lease payments for the use of property under

operating lease agreements In accordance with current accounting

rules the future rights and related obligations pertaining to such con

tractual arrangements are not reported as assets or liabilities on our con

solidated balance sheets Our FIN No 48 liability for unrecognized tax

benefits is reported on our consolidated balance sheets We expect to

fund these contractual arrangements with our cash cash equivalents

and marketable securities as well as cash generated from operations in

the normal course of business

The following table summarizes our contractual operating lease arrange

ments and our FIN No.48 liability at March 312009 and the timing and

effect that such commitments are expected to have on our liquidity and

cash flow in future periods

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations and FIN No.48 Liability

Facilities Operating Lease Obligations

Other Operating Lease Obligations

FIN
No.48_Liability

Total

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2013 After Fiscal

Total Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2014 2014

See Notes and 10 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information related to our operating leases As of March 312009 we had

no capital lease obligations

Effective June 10 2002 we entered into credit
facility

with commer

cial bank.The credit
facility permitted the use of funds for general corpo

rate purposes and the issuance of letters of credit up to maximum of

$10.0 million in the aggregate As of March 312009 the lender under our

credit
facility

had issued letters of credit in favor of the beneficiaries

under number of our operating leases in the aggregate amount of $1.4

million Upon default as defined in the respective office lease agree- We expect working capital needs to increase in the foreseeable future in

ment the applicable landlord has the right to draw upon its letter of

order for us to execute our business plan and growth strategies We anti-

25064

154

804

5227

102

276

560526022

in thousands

6966

52

388

7406

92233648

140

3788 9223

credit in whole or in part Interest under this facility including interest on

any amounts drawn under the letters of credit is payable monthly at an

annual rate of 1.25% The credit
facility

is collateralized by our accounts

receivable Effective March 31 2009 in light of our strong cash position

we elected to eliminate any borrowing capacity under the credit facility

in excess of our existing outstanding letters of credit
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cipate that operating activities as well as planned capital expenditures

will constitute material use of our cash resources In addition we may

utilize cash resources to fund acquisitions or investments in complemen

tary businesses technologies or products as well as repurchase our com

mon stock in accordance with our stock repurchase program authorized

by our Board in February 2008 and the payment of dividends

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents marketable secu

rities and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our

anticipated cash requirements for working capital capital expenditures

and dividends at least through fiscal 2010

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidat

ed entities or related parties and accordingly there are no off-balance

sheet risks to our liquidity and capital resources from unconsolidated

entities

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 59The Fair Value Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities or SFAS No 159 SFAS No 159

permits entities to choose to measure on an item-by-item basis specified

financial instruments and certain other items at fair value Unrealized

gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elect

ed are required to be reported in earnings at each reporting date SFAS

No 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 152007 the

provisions of which are required to be applied prospectively SEAS No 159

became effective for the Company as of April 2008 We did not adopt

the fair value measurement election provisions of the statement

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business

Combinations or SFAS No 141 SFAS No 141 which replaces SFAS No

141 requires that the acquisition method of accounting which SFAS No

141 called thepurchase method be used for all business combinations

and for an acquirer to be identified for each business combination SEAS

No 141 also establishes principles and requirements for how the acquir

er recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable

assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest

in the acquiree recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the

business combination ora gain from bargain purchase and determines

what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements

to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination

SEAS No 141R also requires that acquisition-related costs be recognized

separately from the business combination SEAS No 141R will apply

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

after fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008

In May 2008 the FASB issued SEAS No 162The Hierarchy of Generally

Accepted Principles or SFAS No 162 which outlines the order of author

ity for the sources of accounting principles SEAS No 162 was effective

November 15 2008 The adoption of SEAS No 162 did not have mate

rial impact on our results of operations or financial condition

In June 2008 the EASB issued EASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment

Transactions are Participating Securities or FSP No EITE 03-6-1 FSP No

EITE 03-6-1 states that unvested share-based payment awards that contain

nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid

or unpaid are participating securities and shall be included in the compu
tation of earnings per share or EPS pursuant to the two-class method FSP

EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginnings after December 152008

We will apply the provisions of ESP EITF 03-6-1 in fiscal 2010 We have not

yet determined the impact that the implementation of FST EITF 03-6-1 will

have on its results of operations or financial condition

In November 2008 the EASB issued EITF Issue No.08-7 Accounting for

Defensive Intangible Assets EITF No.08-7 EITE No.08-7 discusses that

when an entity acquired in business combination or an asset acquisi

tion an intangible asset that it did not intend to actively use otherwise

known as defensive asset the entity historically allocated little or no

value to the defensive asset However with the issuance of SEAS No

141R and SFAS No 157 the entity must recognize value for the defen

sive asset that reflects the assets highest and best use based on market

assumptions Upon the effective date of both SFAS No 141R and SEAS

No 157 acquirers will generally assign greater value to defensive

asset than would typically have been assigned under SEAS No 141 EITE

No.08-7 will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning

on or after December 15 2008 EITE No 08-7 will apply prospectively to

business combinations for which the acquisition date is after fiscal years

beginning on or after December 15 2008

In April 2009 the FASB issued FSP SEAS No 141R Accounting for Assets

Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combination That Arise

from Contingencies or ESP SEAS No 141 ESP SFAS No 141

amends and clarifies SEAS No 141 Business Combinations in regards to

the initial recognition and measurement subsequent measurement and

accounting and disclosures of assets and liabilities arising from contin

gencies in business combination FSP SEAS No 141 applies to all

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination that

arise from contingencies that would be within the scope of SFAS No

Accounting for Contingenciess if not acquired or assumed in business

combination except for assets or liabilities arising from contingencies

that are subject to specific guidance in SEAS No 141R FSP SEAS No 141

will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or

after December 152008 FSP SEAS No 141R will apply prospectively to

business combinations for which the acquisition date is after fiscal years

beginning on or after December 15 2008
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of OPNETTechnologies Inc and its subsidiaries theCompany is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal con

trol over financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 3a-1 5f or Sd-i 5f promulgated under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal executive and principal financial officers and

effected by the Companys Board of Directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability offinan

cial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and

includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets

of the company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with author

ization of management and directors of the Company and

Hi provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of our assets that

could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any eval

uation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 312009 In making this assessment our man

agement used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework Based on our assessment and those criteria management concluded that the Companys internal control over financial reporting was

effective as of March 31 2009

OPNETTechnologies Inc

June 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Audit Committee and Stockholders of OPNETTechnologies Inc

Bethesda Maryland

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of OPNETTechnologies Inc and its subsidiaries the Company as of March 312009
based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control and performing such other procedures as we con

sidered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal executive and

principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors management and other per

sonnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external pur

poses in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper management over

ride of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evalua

tion of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inad

equate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31 2009 based on

the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the consolidated finan

cial statements as of and for the year ended March 31 2009 of the Company and our report dated June 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion

on those consolidated financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board

Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

1O1 bLP

McLean Virginia

June 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Audit Committee and Stockholders of OPNET Technologies Inc

Bethesda Maryland

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OPNET Technologies Inc and its subsidiaries the Company as of March 31

2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended March 31 2009 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement pres

entation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of OPNET Technologies Inc and

its subsidiaries as of March 312009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

March 31 2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertain tax positions effec

tive April 2007 to conform to Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.48 Accounting for Uncertainty In Income Taxes

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of March 31 2009 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated June 52009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the

effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

tk 1OLt

McLean Virginia

June 2009



LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Deferred and accrued income taxes

Deferred rent

Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities

2009

90990

999

24086

5476

722

4043

126316

13984

6193

14639

4932

$166064

2008

71410

7451

20780

5366

319

3627

108953

6968

10884

8633

14639

3461

153538

Accrued liabilities 69 59

Deferred rent 2571 1762

Deferred revenue 2910 1772

Other income tax 527 550

Total liabilities 49559 42893

Commitments and contingencies Note

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock parvalue $0001 100000000 shares authorized

27903470 and 27576355 shares issued at March 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

20658514 and 20407123 shares outstanding at March 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 28 28

Additional paid-in capital 93292 89878

Retained earnings 39570 34838

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 1171 160

Treasury stock 7244956 and 7169232 shares at March 31 2009 and 2008

respectively at cost 15214 14259

Total stockholders equity 116505 110645

Total liabilities and stockholdersequity 166064 153538

flOPNET Technologies Inc 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

CONSOLI DATED BALANCE SH EETSin thousands except per
share data

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

Accounts receivable net of $713 and $154 in allowance

for doubtful accounts at March 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Unbilled accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Marketable securities

Property and equipment net

Intangible assets net

Goodwill

Deferred income taxes and other assets

Total assets

March 31

485

11561

849

364

_______
30223

43482

489

8555

658

326

28722

38750

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLI DATED STATEM ENTS OF OPERATION in thousands except pershare data

COST OF REVENUES

New software licenses

Software license updates technical support and services

Professional services

Amortization of acquired technology

Total cost of revenues

2009

51211

43067

28601

122879

Year Ended March 31

2008

38838

34787

27721

101346

43186

28062

23882

95130

Gross profit 91595 75157 74601

OPERATING EXPENSES

Research and development 30791 27471 21688

Sales and marketing 42533 39357 34133

General and administrative 1857 11747 10994

Total operating expenses 85181 78575 66815

6414

1246

7660

2928

4732

0.23

0.23

20296

20581

3418

3579

161

372

533

0.03

0.03

20342

20621

7786

3834

11620

3655

7965

0.39

0.38

20358

21206

REVENUES

New software licenses

Software license updates technical support and services

Professional services

Total revenues

2007

3536 1035 638

4665 4514 3264

20911 19154 15904

2172 1486 723

31284 26189 20529

Income loss from operations

Interest and other income net

Income before provision benefit for income taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income

Basic net income per common share

Diluted net income per common share

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY in thousands

Accumulated

________
Common Stock Additional TreasuryStock Other Total

Shares Shares Paid in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders

Issued Outstanding Amount
Capital Shares Amount Earnings Income Loss Equity

Balance April 12006 26738 20194 27 80591 6543 7725 26850 345 99398

Net income 7965 7965

Foreign currency translation 758 758

Unrealized loss on marketable securities net of tax 19 19
Total comprehensive income 8704

Exercise of options 381 381 2987 2987

Employee stock purchase plan 85 85 753 753

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 1088 1088

Restricted stock issuance net of forfeitures 85 85

Purchaseoftreasuryshares 104 104 1521 1521

Deferred compensation

Stock based compensation expense 1462 1462

Balance March 31 2007 27289 20641 27 86881 6647924634815 394 112871

Net income 533 533

Foreign currency translation 147 147

Unrealized loss on marketable securities net of tax 381 381
Total comprehensive income 299

Adoption of FIN No.48 cumulative effect 510 510
Exercise of options 60 60 365 365

Employeestockpurchaseplan 121 121 988 989

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 105 105

Restricted stock issuance net of forfeitures 107 107

Purchaseoftreasuryshares 522 522 5013 5013

Stock based compensation expense 1539 1539

BalanceMarch3l2008 27576 20407 28 89878 7169 14259 34838 160 110645

Net income 4732 4732

Foreign currency translation 1712 1712

Reversal of unrealized loss on marketable securities net of tax 381 381

Total comprehensive income 3401

Exercise of options 93 93 644 644

Employeestockpurchaseplan 151 151 1123 1123

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 14 14

Restricted stock issuance net of forfeitures 83 83

Purchase of treasury shares 76 76 955 955

Stock based compensation expense 1533 1533

Balance March 31 2009 27903 20658 28 93292 7245 $15214 39570 1171 $116505

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS in thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

2009

4732

Year Ended March 31

2008

533

2007

7965

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH

PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on disposition of fixed assets

Provision for losses on accounts receivable

Deferred income taxes

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Accrued income taxes

Deferred revenue

Deferred rent

Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options

Net cash provided by operating activities

5528

74

646

431

1533

3926
569

70

434

10

1682

130

2638

248

743

762

512

6728

1044

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of specified assets from Network Physics 10005

Acquired technology 366

Purchase of property and equipment 5466 4557 3529

Purchase of investments 999 114799 109637

Proceeds from sale/maturity of investments 14800 156615 72155

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 8335 27254 41377

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of treasury stock 955 5013 1521

Payment of note payable 50

Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options 49 29 383

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 644 365 2987

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 1123 989 753

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 861 3630 2452

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1720 120 780

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 19580 36644 31944

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 71410 34766 66710

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 90990 71410 34766

4018 2348

11 12

96 25

882 50

1539 1462

942 9944

116

1315 2151

49 38

213

466

382

7187

78

49 29 383

12104 12900 6201

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Organization and
Significant Accounting Policies

Organization.OPNET Technologies Inc hereafter the Company or

OPNET isa provider of software products and related services for man

aging networks and applications The Companys software products

address application performance management network operations

capacity management and network research and development The

Company sells products to corporate enterprises government and

defense agencies network service providers and network equipment

manufacturers The Company markets software products and related

services in North America primarily through direct sales force and to

lesser extent several resellers and original equipment manufacturers

Internationally the Company conducts research and development

through wholly-controlled subsidiary in Ghent Belgium and markets

software products and related services through wholly-owned sub

sidiaries in Paris France Mainz Germany Slough United Kingdom and

Singapore sales office in Beijing China third-party distributors and

value-added resellers The Company is headquartered in Bethesda

Maryland and has domestic offices in Cary North Carolina Dallas Texas

Santa Clara California and Nashua New Hampshire

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements

include the results of OPNETTechnologies Inc its wholly-owned sub

sidiaries OPNETTechnologies SAS OPNETTechnologies Limited OPNET

Technologies Pty Ltd OPNET Analysis Inc OPNET Technologies

GmbH and OPNETTechnologies Asia Pte Ltd and its wholly-controlled

subsidiary OPNET Technologies BVBA All intercompany accounts and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conform

ity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of

America or GAAP requires management to make estimates judgments

and assumptions These estimates judgments and assumptions affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of con

tingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during

the reporting period Actual results may differ from these estimates

Significant items subject to such estimates judgments and assumptions

include revenue recognition the carrying amount and useful lives of

long-lived assets valuation allowances for accounts receivable and

deferred tax assets research and development tax credits determination

of uncertain tax position benefits under FASB Interpretation No 48

Accounting for Uncertainty in Incomelaxes An Interpretation of FASB

Statement No 09 or FIN No.48 software development costs valuation

of acquired intangible assets valuation of stock based compensation

and loss contingencies such as litigation claims and assessments

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of

deposits in banks and all highly liquid investments with maturities of

three months or less when purchased

Marketable Securities The Company has determined that all of its

investments in marketable securities are marketable securities to be clas

sified as available-for-sale Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair

value with the unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders

equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets under the cap

tion Accumulated other comprehensive income The amortized cost of

debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of

discounts to maturity Such amortization is included in the Interest

income line item on the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are

included in the Interest and other income net line item on the consol

idated statements of operations The cost of securities sold is based on

the specific identification method Interest and dividends on securities

classified as available-for-sale are included in the Interest and other

income net line item on the consolidated statements of operations

As of March 31 2009 the Company did not hold any auction rate securi

ties or ARS As of March 31 2008 the Company held ARS totaling $8.8 mil

lion at par value which were classified as available for sale securities and

long-term marketable securities on its consolidated balance sheet The

ARS were primarily collateralized by United States government-backed

student loans and were rated AAA or AA Historically the carrying value

of ARS approximated fair value due to the frequent resetting of the inter

est rates With the liquidity issues experienced in the global credit and

capital markets the Companys ARS experienced failed auctions While the

Company continued to earn and receive interest on these marketable

securities at the maximum contractual rate the estimated fair value of

these ARS no longer approximated par value Based on the Companys

analysis and its belief that the ARS were of high credit quality it deter

mined that the fair value of the ARS at March 31 2008 was $8.4 million

and recorded temporary impairment charge of $381000 in the year

ended March 31 2008 During the year ended March 31 2009 the ARS

were redeemed at par As of March 312009 all of the Companys ARS had

been redeemed and as of March 312009 the Company did not hold any

ARS and had no ARS impairment charges recorded on its balance sheet

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Year ended March 31

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

CASH PAID DURING THE FISCAL YEAR FOR

Income taxes 3239 768 3415

Interest paid 25 30 42

NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVtTIES

Unrealized gain loss

on marketable securities 381 381 19
Restricted stock issued 860 1022 1152

Accrued liability for the purchase

of property and equipment 72 218 852

Tenant improvement allowance

received from landlord 1095 880
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Advertising Expense Advertising costs are expensed when incurred

Advertising expense for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 was $389000

$525000 and $703000 respectively

Concentration of Credit Risk Financial instruments that potentially

subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principal

ly of cash cash equivalents marketable securities and accounts receiv

able The Company generally does not require collateral on accounts

receivable as the majority of its customers are large well-established

companies or government entities

The Company maintains its cash balances at several financial institutions

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insures the bank accounts up

to $250000 Although balances exceed that amount the Company has

not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not

exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value of the Companys

cash and cash equivalents marketable securities accounts receivable

accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates their respective

carrying amounts

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB

issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157Fair Value

Measurementsor SFAS No 57.This standard clarifies the principle that

fair value should be based on the assumptions that market participants

would use when pricing an asset or liability Additionally it establishes

fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those

assumptions SEAS No 157 is effective for financial statements issued for

fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted

SEAS No 157 effective April 2008

SEAS No 157 requires disclosures regarding the manner in which fair

value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes three-

tiered fair value hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities must be

grouped based upon significant levels of inputs as follows

Level Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities

Level Observable inputs other than Level prices such as quoted

prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities in markets that

are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborat

ed by observable inputs

Level 3Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market

activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

This includes certain pricing models discounted cash flow methodolo

gies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the

entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy

Software Development Costs Development costs incurred in the

research and development of new software products and enhancements

to existing software products are expensed as incurred until technolog

ical feasibility has been established The Company considers technolog

ical feasibility to be established when all planning designing coding and

testing has been completed according to design specifications After

technological feasibility has been established any additional costs are

capitalized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards or SEAS No 86 Accounting for the Costs of Computer

Software to be Sold Leased or Otherwise MarketedThrough March 31

2009 software development has been substantially completed concur

rently with the establishment of technological feasibility and according

ly no costs have been capitalized to date

Property and Equipment Property and equipment are stated at cost

Depreciation on property and equipment is computed using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets of five

to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the

shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets the non-cancelable term

of the related lease or the non-cancelable lease term plus all periods for

which executive management believes that the failure to renew the lease

imposes penalty in an amount such that the renewal appears at the

inception of the lease to be reasonably assured Repairs and mainte

nance are expensed as incurred

Intangible Assets The Company accounts for its goodwill and intangi

ble assets in accordance with SEAS No 141 Business Combinationsand

SEAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Its intangible assets

consist of acquired technology related to its acquisitions of software

product for modeling voice communications in December 2003

Altaworks in October 2004 and purchased technology the Company

purchased from RadView Software Ltd in December 2005 SQMworks

Inc in April 2006 and the acquisition of specified assets of Network

Physics Inc in October 2007.The Companys intangible assets also con

sist of customer relationships and acquired workforce assets it purchased

from Network Physics Inc related to the purchase of specified assets of

Network Physics in October 2007 The acquired and purchased technol

ogy are stated at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value

and are amortized on straight-line basis over their expected useful lives

of three to five years The Companys customer relationship and work-

force intangible assets it purchased from Network Physics Inc are amor

tized on an accelerated basis over their expected useful lives of four and

one-half years and five years respectively The Company uses the project

ed discounted cash flow method in valuing its acquired technology and

purchased customer relationships using certain assumptions including

revenue growth cost levels present value discount rate and working

capital requirements The Company uses the lower of the amount of cash

paid or the present value of projected discounted cash flows to value

purchased technology The workforce asset associated with the purchase

of specified assets of Network Physics Inc was valued on replacement

cost basis While the Company believes the assumptions used to value its

acquired technology related to acquisitions are reasonable actual

results will
likely

differ from those assumptions Euture cash flows are

subject to change for variety of internal and external factors The

Company periodically reviews the value of acquired technology and pur

chased intangible assets for reasonableness in accordance with SFAS No

144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets If
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changes in the Companys assumptions at the time of future periodic

reviews indicate that the carrying value of its acquired technology and

purchased intangible assets exceeds their fair value and it determines

that carrying amounts can not be recovered it would result in impair

ment losses As of March 31 2009 and 2008 intangible assets totaled

$6.2 million and $8.6 million net of accumulated amortization of $7.7

million and $5.3 million respectively There has been no impairment as

of March 31 2009 or 2008

Goodwill In accordance with SFAS No 142 goodwill is not amortized

but is tested for impairment annually during the Companys fourth quar

ter and whenever events and circumstances occur indicating that the

asset might be impaired.The Company performed its annual impairment

test of goodwill as of March 312009 and 2008 and concluded that there

was no goodwill impairment

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets In accordance with SFAS No 144 the

Company reviews its long-lived assets including property and equip

ment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi

cate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable

If the total of the expected undiscounted future net cash flows is less

than the carrying amount of the asset loss is recognized for the differ

ence between the fair value and carrying amount of the asset.There has

been no impairment as of March 31 2009 or 2008

Revenue Recognition The Company derives revenue from three pri

mary sources new software licenses software license updates

technical support and services which include software license update

certain training provided and offered on when-and-if available basis to

customers and technical support and professional services which

include consulting and custom training services for customers without

current maintenance agreement The Company recognizes revenue

based on the provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public

Accountants Statement of Position or SOP No 97-2 Software Revenue

Recognition7as amended by SOP No 98-9Modification of SOP No.97-

Software Revenue Recognition With Respect to Certain Transactions

SOP No 81-1 Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and

Certain Production-Type Contractsand the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin

No 104Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements

New Software License Revenue

New software license revenue represents all fees earned from granting cus

tomers licenses to use the Companys software and excludes revenue

derived from software license updates which are included in software

license updates technical support and services revenue.The Companys new

software license revenue consists of perpetual and term license sales of soft

ware products For the year ended March 312009 perpetual licenses repre

sented approximately 93% of software license revenue For the years ended

March 312008 and 2007 perpetual licenses represented approximately 97%

of software license revenue New software license revenue is recognized

when the following four criteria are met persuasive evidence of an

arrangement exists ii delivery of the software has occurred iii the software

license fee is fixed or determinable and iv collectibility is probable The

Company defines each of these four criteria as follows

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists For license arrange

ments with end-users it is the Companys customary practice to have

written software license agreement which is signed by both the end user

and the Company and purchase order or equivalent written contract

can be executed based on the customer-specific format or on the stan

dard shrink wrap software master license agreement For those end users

who have previously negotiated software license agreement with the

Company the initial software license agreement is used as evidence of

written contract Sales to distributors resellers and value-added resellers

which the Company collectively referred to as resellers are primarily made

outside of North America and are evidenced by master reseller agree

ment governing the relationship which is signed by both the reseller and

the Company together with purchase order on transaction-by-trans

action basis To further evidence an arrangement our master reseller

agreement requires that the reseller provide us copies of the end users

executed software master license agreements

Delivery has occurred Physical delivery of the Companys software

products to end users or resellers which are collectively referred to as

customers is generally considered to have occurred upon the transfer

of media containing the Companys software products to common

carrier usually FOB shipping point based on standard agreement

terms Software products may also be delivered electronically to end

users Electronic delivery is deemed to occur after end users have been

provided with access codes that allow them to take immediate posses

sion of the software If software arrangement includes undelivered

software products or services that are essential to the functionality of

delivered software products delivery is not considered to have

occurred until these software products or services are delivered

The fee is fixed or determinable It is the Companys policy to not

provide customers the right to any adjustments or refund of any por

tion of their license fees paid acceptance provisions cancellation priv

ileges or rights of return The Companys normal payment terms for its

software products and services currently range from net 30 days to net

90 days and primarily vary based on the country in which an agreement

is executed Payments that extend beyond the Companys normal pay

ment terms from the contract date but that are due within six months

are generally deemed to be fixed or determinable based on its success

ful collection history on such arrangements and thereby satisfy the

required criteria for revenue recognition Arrangements with payment

terms extending beyond six months are considered not to be fixed or

determinable and revenue from such arrangements is recognized as

payments become due and payable

Collectibility is probable Collectibility is assessed on customer-by

customer basis The Company typically sells to customers for whom

there is history of successful collection New customers are subject to

credit review process that evaluates the customers ability to pay If

the Company determines from the outset of an arrangement that col

lectibility
is not probable revenue is recognized as cash is collected
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In instances when any of the four criteria are not met the Company defers

recognition of software license revenue until the criteria are met When

the sale of the software product requires the Company to make significant

enhancements customization or modifications to the software that are

essential to its functionality software license revenue and consulting fees

are recognized using contract accounting under SOP No 81-1 The

Company estimates the percentage-of-completion under SOP No 81-1

based on its estimate of total hours to complete the project as percent

age of total hours incurred and the estimated hours to complete

The process of estimation inherent in the application of the percentage-

of-completion method of accounting for revenue is subject to judgments

and uncertainties and may affect the amounts of software license revenue

and professional services revenue under certain contracts and related

expenses reported in the Companys consolidated financial statements

number of internal and external factors can affect the Companys esti

mates to complete client engagements including skill level and experi

ence of project managers staff assigned to engagements and continuity

and attrition level of professional services staff Changes in the estimated

stage of completion of particular project could create variability in the

Companys revenue and results of operations if it is required to increase

or decrease previously recognized revenue related to particular project

or if it expects to incur loss on the project

Software License Update Technical Support and Services Revenue

Software license updates technical support and services revenue repre

sents fees associated with the sale of license updates training and tech

nical support all provided on when-and-if-available basis except for

technical support under the Companys maintenance agreement

Payments for software license updates technical support and services on

initial order or on renewal are generally made in advance and are non-

refundable License updates consist of the right to unspecified software

updates on when-and-if-available basis and are typically entered into

in connection with the initial software license purchase License updates

technical support and services may be renewed upon expiration of the

term Customers can purchase license updates separately from technical

support and services Revenue from license updates technical support

and services is deferred and recognized as revenue on straight-line

basis over the term of the maintenance agreement

Revenue under multiple-element arrangements which typically include

new software licenses consulting services training and maintenance

agreements sold together are allocated to each element in the arrange

ment primarily using the residual method based upon the fair value of the

undelivered elements which is specific to the Company vendor-specific

objective evidence of fair value or VSOE This means that the Company

defers revenue from the arrangement fee equivalent to the fair value of

the undelivered elements Discounts if any are applied to the delivered

elements usually software licenses under the residual method For peri

odic unspecified product updates and technical support agreements

VSOE is based upon either the renewal rate specified in each contract or

the price charged when sold separately For consulting services and train

ing for customers without current maintenance agreement VSOE is

based upon the rates charged for these services when sold separately

If the Company is unable to establish VSOE for an undelivered postcon

tract customer support or PCS element for example in two-year term

license where the license term and PCS are coterminous and no PCS

renewal period exists all revenue is recognized ratably over the contract

period For income statement classification purposes the Companys

allocation methodology is based on VSOE of fair value for its profession

al services which is determined by the price charged when sold separate

ly and the contractually stated renewal rates for its PCS generally 18%

to 21% of the license fee paid on perpetual licenses The Company uses

the residual method to allocate any remaining arrangement fee to new

software license revenue

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue consists of fees from consulting services

and training for customers without current maintenance agreement

and is recognized as the services are performed When the Company

enters into consulting service arrangements that include significant

modifications to the software that are essential to the customers use and

the arrangement is bundled with software revenue under the entire

arrangement is recognized under the percentage-of-completion

method For income statement classification purposes the Company has

developed revenue allocation methodology for these arrangements

that is consistent with the residual method used and described under

SOP No 97-2 when services are not essential to the functionality of the

software In these circumstances revenue is allocated to the various ele

ments of the arrangement based on the Companys VSOE of fair value

and the residual amount is allocated to new software license revenue

The Company sells new software licenses license updates technical sup

port and services agreements to distributors at predetermined prices Sales

to distributors are not contingent upon resale of the software to the end

user In most cases the Company provides license updates technical sup

port and services agreements directly to distributors and the distributors

provide support to the end customer Revenue from sales to distributors is

recorded at the amounts charged to the distributor and in the same man

ner as new software license license updates technical support and servic

es sales sold through the Companys direct sales force Amounts received in

advance of revenue recognition are classified as deferred revenue

Sales taxes and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to

governmental authorities are presented on net basis and as such are

excluded from revenues

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts The Company maintains an

allowance for doubtful accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting

from the inability of its customers to make required payments and for the

limited circumstances when the customer disputes the amounts due the

Company The Companys methodology for determining this allowance

requires significant estimates In estimating the allowance the Company

considers the age of the receivable the creditworthiness of the customer

the economic conditions of the customers industry and general eco

nomic conditions
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Income Taxes Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with SFAS

No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes or SFAS No 109 and FIN No 48

The income tax provision includes income taxes currently payable plus

the net change during the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities Under

SFAS No 109 deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the differences

between the carrying value under GAAP and the tax basis of assets and

liabilities using enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the period in which

the differences are expected to reverse Judgments and estimates are

required in the calculation of the deferred tax assets valuation allowance

research and development tax credits and foreign tax credits

FIN No.48 prescribes recognition threshold of more-likely-than-not and

measurement attribute for all tax positions taken or expected to be

taken on tax return in order for these positions to be recognized in the

financial statements The Company continually reviews tax laws regula

tions and guidance in order to properly record any uncertain tax positions

Foreign Currency Transactions Revenue and expenses denominated

in foreign currencies are translated at the average exchange rates during

the period Gains or losses on foreign exchange transactions are report

ed in the consolidated statements of operations

Foreign Currency Translation The results of operations for the

Companys international subsidiaries are translated from the designated

functional currencies into United States dollars using average exchange

rates during each period Assets and liabilities are translated using

exchange rates at the end of each period Translation gains and losses are

reported as component of accumulated other comprehensive income

in stockholders equity

Comprehensive Income Certain revenues expenses gains and losses

are recognized in comprehensive income but excluded from net income

Comprehensive income includes net income foreign currency translation

adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities

Earnings per Share Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing

net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average

number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted earnings

per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or

other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted into

common shares for all periods presented

Stock-Based Compensation The Company accounts for stock-based

compensation given to employees in accordance with Financial

Accounting Standards No 23RShare-Based Payment or SFAS No 23R

SFAS No 23R requires all share-based payments and nonvested shares

restricted stock issued to employees including grants of employee

stock options to be valued at fair value on the date of grant and to be

expensed over the applicable vesting period

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The FairValue Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities7or SFAS No 159 SFAS No 159 per

mits entities to choose to measure on an item-by-item basis specified

financial instruments and certain other items at fair value Unrealized gains

and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are

required to be reported in earnings at each reporting date SFAS No 159

is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 the provi

sions of which are required to be applied prospectively SFAS No 159

became effective for the Company as of April 12008 The Company did not

adopt the fair value measurement election provisions of the statement

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business

Combinationsor SFAS No 1418 SFAS No 141 which replaces SFAS No

141 requires that the acquisition method of accounting which SFAS No

141 called thepurchase method be used for all business combinations

and for an acquirer to be identified for each business combination SFAS

No 141 also establishes principles and requirements for how the acquir

er recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable

assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest

in the acquiree recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the

business combination or gain from bargain purchase and determines

what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements

to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination

SFAS No 141R also requires that acquisition-related costs be recognized

separately from the business combination SFAS No 141R will apply

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

after fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008

In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 162 The Hierarchy of Generally

Accepted Principlesor SFAS No 162 which outlines the order of author

ity for the sources of accounting principles SFAS No 162 was effective

November 15 2008 The adoption of SFAS No 162 did not have mate

rial impact on the Companys results of operations or financial condition

In June 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment

Transactions are Participating Securitiesor FSP No EITF 03-6-1 FSP No

EITF 03-6-1 states that unvested share-based payment awards that con

tain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether

paid or unpaid are participating securities and shall be included in the

computation of earnings per share or EPS pursuant to the two-class

method FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginnings after

December 15 2008 The Company will apply the provisions of FSP EITF

03-6-1 in fiscal 2010 The Company has not yet determined the impact

that the implementation of FST EITF 03-6-1 will have on its results of

operations or financial condition

In November 2008 the FASB issued EITF Issue No 08-7 Accounting for

Defensive Intangible Assets or EITF No.08-7 EITF No.08-7 discusses that

when an entity acquired in business combination or an asset acquisi

tion an intangible asset that it did not intend to actively use otherwise

known as defensive asset the entity historically allocated little or no

value to the defensive asset However with the issuance of SFAS No

141R and SFAS No 157 the entity must recognize value for the defen

sive asset that reflects the assets highest and best use based on market

assumptions Upon the effective date of both SFAS No 141R and SFAS

No 157 acquirers will generally assign greater value to defensive

asset than would typically have been assigned under SFAS No 141 EITF
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No.08-7 will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning

on or after December 152008 SEAS No 141 will apply prospectively to

business combinations for which the acquisition date is after fiscal years

beginning on or after December 15 2008 EITF No 08-7 will apply

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

after fiscal years beginning on or after December 152008

In April 2009 the FASB issued ESP SEAS No 141R Accounting for Assets

Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combination That Arise

from Contingencies or FSP SEAS No 141 FSP SEAS No 141

amends and clarifies SEAS No 141 Business Combinations in regards to

the initial recognition and measurement subsequent measurement and

accounting and disclosures of assets and liabilities arising from contin

gencies in business combination FSP SEAS No 141 applies to all

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination that

arise from contingencies that would be within the scope of SFAS No

Accounting for Contingencies if not acquired or assumed in business

combination except for assets or liabilities arising from contingencies

that are subject to specific guidance in SEAS No 141R ESP SFAS No 141

will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or

after December 15 2008 FSP SFAS No 141R will apply prospectively to

business combinations for which the acquisition date is after fiscal years

beginning on or after December 15 2008

Stock-Based Compensation

The Companys Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan or the

2000 Plan provides for the granting of incentive and non-qualified stock

options and restricted stock to purchase up to 5539742 shares of the

Companys common stock The number of shares available for issuance

will automatically increase on the first trading day of each calendar year

by an amount equal to the lesser of 3% of the shares of common stock

outstanding on the last trading day of the preceding calendar year or an

amount determined by the Board of Directors or the Board not to

exceed an annual increase of 1000000 shares The Board of Directors

voted not to increase the number of shares for issuance on the first trad

ing day of calendar year 2009 2008 or 2007 Options are granted for

terms up to ten years and generally vest over periods ranging from one

to six years from the date of the grant Restricted stock granted to

employees under this plan generally vests over one to four years from the

date of the grant Restricted stock granted to non-employees under this

plan generally vests over six months from the date of the grant New

option grants and restricted stock grants are granted from new shares of

the Companys common stock

The Companys Amended and Restated 1993 Incentive Stock Option Plan

or the 1993 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options to

purchase up to 3000000 shares of common stock of the Company

Options are granted for terms of up to ten years and generally vest over

periods ranging from one to six years from the date of the grant The

Board approved resolution to make no further grants for options or

stock awards under the 1993 Plan upon approval of the 2000 Plan

SEAS No.123R requires an entity to recognize an expense within its

income statement for all share-based payment arrangements which

includes employee stock option plans restricted stock grants and

employee stock purchase plans The Company has elected to continue

straight-line amortization of stock-based compensation expense for the

entire award over the service period since the awards have only service

conditions and graded vesting

Excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options are presented as

cash flow from financing activity For fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 excess

tax benefits from the exercise of stock options were $49000 $29000

and $383000 respectively

summary of the total stock-based compensation expense for fiscal

2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

Stock options 172 482 979

Restricted stock 917 611 253

ESPP shares 444 446 230

Total stock-based compensation 1533 $1539 1462

summary of the total nonvested stock-based deferred compensation

at March 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows

Restricted stock

Stock options

ESPP shares

Total nonvested stock-based compensation

2009 2008

in thousands

The deferred compensation associated with the nonvested restricted

stock and ESPP shares at March 31 2009 are expected to be recognized

over weighted average period of 1.1 years and months respectively

$1633 $1699

162

181 139

$1814 $2000



flOPNET Technologies Inc 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

Stock Options

The Companys stock option grants are accounted for as equity awards.The expense is based on the grant-date fair value of the options granted and

is recognized over the requisite service period

summary of the option transactions for fiscal 20092008 and 2007 is as follows

2009

During fiscal 2009 76451 stock options vested with weighted average grant date fair value of $9.16

To estimate the grant-date fair value of its stock options the Company

uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model The Black-Scholes model

estimates the per share fair value of an option on its date of grant based

on the following the options exercise price the price of the underlying

stock on the date of grant the estimated dividend yield risk-free inter

est rate the estimated option term and the expected volatility For the

risk-free interest rate the Company uses U.S Treasury Bond due in

number of years equal to the options expected term To determine

expected volatility the Company analyzes the historical volatility of its

stock over the expected term of the option

The Company did not grant any stock options during fiscal 2009 or fiscal

2008 The weighted average assumptions used to determine the grant-

date fair value for stock options for fiscal 2007 are as follows

Compensation cost for option grants is recognized on straight-line

basis over the requisite service period for the entire award from the date

of grant through the period of the last separately vesting portion of the

grant Compensation cost is recognized within the income statement in

the same expense line as the cash compensation paid to the respective

employees SFAS No 23R also requires the Company to estimate forfei

tures in calculating the expense related to stock-based compensation

The impact on compensation cost due to changes in the expected for-

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

10.79

6.95

12.45

10.89

10.89

Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic Weighted Average

Contract Life Value Grant Date Fair Value

Years in thousands

1473

459

1283

1283

2.94

2.94

2008

7.56

4.88

8.90

7.62

7.62

Outstanding at beginning of period

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited or expired

Outstanding at end of period

Exercisable at end of period

Nonvested at end of period

Outstanding at beginning of period

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited or expired

Outstanding at end of period

Exercisable at end of period

Nonvested at end of period

Outstanding at beginning of period

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited or expired

Outstanding at end of period

Exercisable at end of period

Nonvested at end of period

Options

2720121

92648

70750

2556723

2556723

Options

2841065

59975

60969

2720121

2643020

77101

Options

3233537

30000

381153

41319

2841065

2649614

191451

Weighted Average Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic Weighted Average

Exercise Price Contract Life Value Grant Date Fair Value

Years in thousands

1405 7.51$10.73

6.08

12.37

10.79

10.85

9.01

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

$10.37

13.25

7.84

10.78

10.73

10.80

9.67

3.92

3.85

6.35

2007

Weighted Average Remaining

Contract Life

Years

4.91

4.71

7.68

256

1256

1256

Aggregate Intrinsic

Value

in thousands

$11362

2406

113

9092

8356

735

4.23

8.65

7.56

7.61

6.01

Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

7.31

3.90

5.53

7.30

7.51

7.65

5.68

2007

5.02%

0.00%

years

43%

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected life

Volatility factor
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feiture rate will be recognized in the period that they become known All

of the Companys stock options are fully vested As result during the

year ended March 31 2009 the Company adjusted its expected forfei

ture rate to reflect actual stock option forfeitures The adjustment of the

Companys forfeiture rate did not have significant impact on the finan

cial statements

During fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company received proceeds of

approximately $644000 $365000 and $3.0 million respectively and

issued 92648 59972 and 381153 shares of common stock respective

ly pursuant to employee exercises of stock options

Restricted Stock

The Companys restricted stock grants are accounted for as equity

awards The expense is based on the price of the Companys common

stock on the date the restricted stock award is granted and is recognized

on straight-line basis over the requisite service period The Company

did not grant any restricted stock prior to February 2006 The Companys

restricted stock agreements do not contain any post-vesting restrictions

summary of the restricted stock grants is as follows

Nonvested at beginning of period

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at end of period

2009

Restricted Weighted Average

Stock Grants Grant Fair Value

2008

Restricted Weighted Average

Stock Grants Grant Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of period 127213 12.14

Granted 108190 9.86

Vested 21586 11.16

Forfeited 640 14.41

Nonvested at end of period 213177 11.07

2007

Restricted Weighted Average

Stock Grants Grant Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of period 43451 9.39

Granted 88958 13.48

Vested 1200 13.44

Forfeited 3996 1.67

Nonvested at end of period 127213 12.14

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Companys 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan or ESPP provides all

eligible employees to collectively purchase up to total of 650000 shares

of its common stock An employee may authorize payroll deduction up

to maximum of 10% of his or her compensation during the plan peri

od The purchase price for each share purchased is the lesser of 85% of

the closing price of the common stock on the first or last day of the plan

period The plan period for the ESPP ends on the last day of January and

July of each year

To estimate the fair value of shares issued under its ESPP the Company

uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model The Black-Scholes model

estimates the per share fair value of an ESPP share at the beginning of the

plan period based on the following the price of the underlying stock on

the first day of the plan period the estimated dividend yield risk-free

interest rate the term of the plan period six months and the expected

volatility For the risk-free interest rate the Company uses U.S

Treasury Bond due in six months To determine expected volatility the

Company analyzes the historical volatility of its stock over the months

prior to the first day of the plan period The expense is calculated based

on the difference between the fair market value of the shares purchased

at the close of each plan period and the discounted price paid by the

employee and that expense is recognized on straight-line basis over

the plan period

total of 150712 120295 and 84072 shares of the Companys common

stock were issued under the ESPP in fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respec

tively The issuance of the common stock resulted in proceeds to the

Company of $1.1 million $989000 and $753000 respectively

The weighted average assumptions to determine the value for ESPP

shares for fiscal 20092008 and 2007 are as follows

213177

87070

61370

3315

235562

$11.07

10.27

11.55

10.85

10.66

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected life

Volatility factor

Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan

Period Starting Period Starting Period Starting Period Starting Period Starting Period Starting

February 2009 August 2008 February 2008 August 2007 February 2007 August 2006

0.39% 1.88% 2.15% 4.96% 5.16% 5.18%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years

88% 42% 60% 49% 45% 48%
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3.Marketable Securities and Cash Equivalents

The following table summarizes the composition of the Companys marketable securities at March 31 2009 and 2008

Corporate note

Total marketable securities

999

999

999

999

Classification on Balance Sheet

Short-Term Long-Term
Investments Investments

999

999

Auction rate securities

Municipal securities

Total marketable securities

The following table details the fair value measurements within the three levels of fair value hierarchy of the Companys financial assets consisting of

cash equivalents and marketable securities at March 31 2009

Total Fair Value At Fair Value Measurement at March 31 2009 Using

March 31 2009 Level Level Level

in thousands

Corporate note

Money market funds

Total

999

79231

80230

79231

79231 999

At March 31 2009 the Company grouped money market funds using

Level valuation because market prices in active markets for identical

assets were readily available The per-share net asset value of the

Companys money market funds has remained at constant amount of

$1.00 per share Also as of March 312009 there were no withdrawal lim

its on redemptions for any of the money market funds that the Company

holds At March 31 2009 the Company grouped the corporate note

using Level valuation because it used quoted prices in active markets

for similar assets to determine the fair value.The contractual maturity for

the corporate note is July 2009 The Company did not group any finan

cial assets using Level valuation at March 31 2009

The following table summarizes the activity for the Companys ARS meas

ured at fair value using Level inputs

Balance as of April 12008

Redemptions at par

Total gains and losses

Included in earnings realized

Reversal of unrealized loss included

in accumulated other comprehensive income

Balance as of March 312009

Acquisition of Specified Assets of Network Physics Inc

On October 19 2007 the Company completed the acquisition of specified assets of Network Physics Inc Network Physics Pursuant to the asset

purchase agreement the purchase price totaled $10.0 million and was paid in cash from the Companys working capital The Company accounted

for the asset acquisition as the purchase of productive assets and followed the guidance in SFAS No 141 to perform the purchase price allocation

The Company expensed $720000 in transaction-related professional services costs during fiscal 2008 in connection with the asset acquisition The

Company has conducted review and analysis of the purchase price summary of the assets acquired follows

Current assets 45

Property plant and equipment

Acquired technology

Customer relationships

Acquired workforce

Total consideration

Amortization Method Useful Life

572 Straight-line 1-3 years

7827 Straight-line years

724 Double-declining balance 4.5 years

837 Double-declining balance years

March 31 2009

Amortized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Market
Cost Gain Loss Value

in thousands

March 31 2008

Amortized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Market
Cost Gain Loss Value

in thousands

8800

6000

14800

381

381

Classification on Balance Sheet

Short-Term Long-Term
Investments Investments

1451 69688419

6000

14419

6000

7451 6968

999

ARS

in thousands

8419

8800

381

March 12008

dollars in thousands

$10005
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The assets acquired were recorded at estimated fair values as determined

by the Companys management based on information currently available

and on current assumptions as to future operations The Company

obtained valuation services from an independent company to assist in

the Companys determination of the fair value of acquired intangibles

and their remaining useful lives

The Companys purchase of specified assets of Network Physics constitut

ed the acquisition of productive assets and not the acquisition ofa busi

ness under Emerging Issues Task Force or EITF 98-3 Determining

Whether Nonmonetary Transaction Involves Receipt of Productive

Assets or of Business

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consisted of the following

Acquired and purchased technology 12374

Customer relationships 724

Acquired workforce asset

Total

Less accumulated amortization

Intangible assets net

837 837

13935 13935

7742 5302

6193 8633

Intangible assets associated with acquired and purchased technology

consist of acquired technology related to the Companys acquisitions of

software product for modeling voice communications in December

2003 Altaworks in October 2004 purchased technology from RadView

Software Ltd in December 2005 and SQMworks Inc in April 2006 and

the purchase of technology from Network Physics in October 2007

Intangible assets associated with customer relationships and acquired

workforce asset relate to the purchase of specified assets from Network

Physics in October 2007 Acquired and purchased intangible assets

resulted in amortization expense for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 of $2.4

million $1.7 million and $723000 respectively Amortization expense

from acquired and purchased technology and customer relationships is

included in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations

Amortization expense from the acquired workforce asset is included in

research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of

operations The Company amortizes acquired and purchased technolo

gy on straight-line basis over their expected useful lives of three to five

years The customer relationships and workforce assets that the

Company purchased from Network Physics are amortized on an acceler

ated depreciation basis over their expected useful lives of four and one

half years and five years respectively The Company currently expects

future amortization expense attributable to these intangible assets of

$1.8 million in fiscal 2010 $1.8 million in fiscal 2011 $1.8 million in fiscal

2012 and $833000 in fiscal 2013

Goodwill is primarily derived from the Companys acquisitions of

Altaworks in October 2004 WDM NetDesign in January 2002 and

NetMaker in March 2001 The Company made no adjustment to goodwill

during fiscal 2009 or fiscal 2008

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at March 31 2009

and 2008

2009 2008

in thousands

8371

6699

237

4159 4094

______________
1656

21057

______________
10173

10884

1758

25632

Less accumulated depreciation 11648

Property and equipment net 13984

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 was $3.1 million

$2.4 million and $1.6 million respectively

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued compensation and bonuses

Accrued accounting and tax services

Accrued legal services

Accrued inventory

Other

Total

Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended

March 31 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

CURRENT PROVISION

Federal

State

Foreign

Total current provision

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

DEFERRED BENEFIT PROVISION

Federal

State

Foreign

Total deferred benefit provision

Total provision benefit

for income taxes 2928 372 3655

Computer equipment

Leasehold improvements

Construction in progress

Purchased software

Office furniture and equipment

Total

9708

9977

30

At March 31

2009 2008

in thousands

12374

724 Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at March 312009 and 2008

2009 2008

in thousands

6504

692

997

3368

11561

4866

970

11

225

2483

8555

2164 115

744 13

451 382

3359 510

2471

785

349

3605

320

88

23

431

748

131

882

28
23

55

50
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tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows

tax credit carryforward

Accelerated book amortization of

acquired technology

Bad debt reserve

Federal net operating loss carryforward

Foreign net operating loss carryforward

Foreign tax credit carryforward

Deferred stock based compensation

Accelerated depreciation

Other temporary differences

Gross deferred tax assets

Less valuation allowance

Total deferred tax asset

2009

20274 19269

13289 13289

6985 5980

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Tax amortization of goodwill 2241 1961
Accelerated depreciation 249

Tax accounting for unbilled accounts receivable 1065 988

Total deferred tax liabilities 3555 2949
Net deferred tax asset 3430 3031

SFAS No 109Accounting for Income Taxes or SFAS No.109 requires that

the Company assess the realizability of deferred tax assets at the end of

each reporting period These assessments generally consider several fac

tors including the reversal of existing deferred tax asset temporary differ

ences projected future taxable income tax planning strategies and his

torical and future book income adjusted for permanent book to tax dif

ferences As stated below the Company has established valuation

allowance related to portion of the deferred tax asset associated with

the Altaworks transaction due to limitations under Section 382 of the

Internal Revenue Code The Company believes that it is more likely than

not that the remaining net deferred tax asset of $3.4 million will be real

ized based upon its history of profitability estimates of future taxable

income and the period over which the tax benefits can be realized

2009 2008 2007

Statutory United States Federal rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%

INCREASE DECREASE

2008 IN TAXES RESULTING FROM

State income taxesnet of Federal benefit

Nondeductible meals and entertainment

Nondeductible fines and penalties

Nondeductible stock compensation

Nondeductible expenses other

Section 199 deduction

1483 Tax credits

Provision to return true-ups

960 permanent items

59 Foreign tax expense

12995 Tax exempt income

73 Other

138 FIN No.48

808 Changes to estimates

128 Foreign tax rate differential

29 Effective tax rate

8.2 0.5

0.4 14.5 0.2

38.2% 230.5% 31.5%

For fiscal 2009 the effective tax rate differed from the statutory tax rate

principally due to state income taxes differential in the United States and

foreign tax rates research and development credits and the domestic

production activities deduction The increase in the Companys effective

tax rate in fiscal 2009 from fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the increase

in its book income which diluted the impact of permanent differences as

compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year.The decrease in the

Companys effective tax rate in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primari

ly the result of decrease in book income and an increase in permanent

book to tax differences such as tax exempt interest income

At March 312009 the Company had United States federal research and

development tax credit carryforward of approximately $1.2 million and

net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $38.2 million which

will expire in the years 2019 through 2024 At March 31 2009 the

Companys Singapore subsidiary had foreign net operating loss carry-

forward of $454000 The foreign net operating loss can be carried for

ward indefinitely under local tax legislation

As part of the Altaworks Corporation acquisition the Company received

federal net operating loss carryforward of approximately $38.8 million and

research and development credit carryforward ofapproximately $1.2 mil

lion The related deferred tax assets amount to $14.4 million These tax

assets are subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal

Revenue Code Because of the limitation imposed management believes

it is more likely
than not that portion of the assets will not be realized and

has placed valuation allowance of $13.3 million against that portion

At March 312009 the Company had cumulative undistributed earnings

of foreign subsidiaries for which no United States income or foreign

withholding taxes have been recorded of approximately $2.9 million

which have been reinvested indefinitely Determination of the amount of

unrecognized deferred tax liability with respect to such earnings is not

practicable The additional taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries

if remitted would be partially offset by United States tax credits for for

eign taxes already paid

At March 31 2009 and 2008 the components of the Companys deferred

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Accrued expenses

Deferred revenue

In-process research and development

Deferred rent

Research and development

in thousands

1544 1346

648 315

138 158

1114 777

4.7

0.6

2.0

0.1

2.4

7.1

7.0

38.0

3.6

93.9

4.3

10.2

209.3

4.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

6.21188

1463

275

12941

82

864

17

3.5 148.9 0.5

2.4 173.6

234.0 1.9

1.2 13.0 0.1

0.4 45.2

The provision for income taxes for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 differs from

the amount computed by applying the statutory United States Federal

income tax rate to income before taxes as result of the following
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The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of April 2008

was $838000 Of this total $808000 represents the amount of unrecog

nized tax benefits net of federal benefit on state issues that if recog

nized would favorably affect the effective income tax rate in any future

periods At March 31 2009 the gross unrecognized benefit was

$804000 $775000 of which would favorably affect the effective income

tax rate in future periods reconciliation of the beginning and ending

amount of unrecognized tax benefits for fiscal 2009 and 2008 follows

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 2008

Gross increases current period tax positions

Lapse of statute of limitations

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2009

in thousands

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 2007 810

Gross decreases tax positions in prior period 80
Gross increases current period tax positions 79

Foreign currency translation adjustment 29

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2008 838

The following table summarizes the tax years that are either currently

under audit or remain open under the statute of limitations and are sub

ject to examination by the tax authorities in the most significant jurisdic

tions that the Company operates

FY05 FY08

FY05 FY08

FYO6FYO8

FY04 FY08

FY08

FYO6FYO8

FYO4FYO8

FY07 FY08

The Companys continuing practice is to recognize interest if any relat

ed to income tax matters in interest expense in its consolidated state

ments of operations and penalties as part of general and administrative

expense in its consolidated statements of operations During fiscal 2008

the Company recognized $6000 in potential interest expense associat

ed with uncertain tax positions During fiscal 2009 the Company recog

nized $4000 in potential interest expense associated with uncertain tax

positions and reversed $17000 associated with potential claims now

barred by the statute of limitations The total accrued interest and

accrued penalties related to uncertain tax positions at March 31 2009

was $13000 and $2000 respectively

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that significant changes

in the liability for uncertain tax positions will occur in the next twelve

months as result of final decisions related to the voluntary payments of

its state and local income taxes and lapse of statute of limitations In the

aggregate the Company believes the liability for uncertain tax positions

could decrease by $276000 in the next twelve months

The income tax provision includes income taxes currently payable plus

the net change during the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities Deferred

tax assets and liabilities reflect the differences between the carrying value

under GAAP and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted statu

tory tax rates in effect for the period in which the differences are expect

ed to reverse Judgments and estimates are required in the calculation of

the deferred tax assets valuation allowance accrual of contingencies

research and development tax credits and foreign tax credits

Commitments and Contingencies

The Companys corporate office and principal facilities are located in

Bethesda Maryland and consist of approximately 82000 square feet of

office space held under two leases The lease for 60000 square feet

expires on January 312011 exclusive of renewal options.The lease pro

vides for two five-year renewal options The rent is subject to escalation

based upon consumer price index adjustment of up to 3% each year

The lease also requires the Company to maintain security deposit of

approximately $1.2 million in the form of bank letter of credit as dis

cussed in Note 10 which is subject to annual reductions based upon

meeting certain minimum financial requirements The lease for 22000

square feet expires on January 312016 exclusive of renewal options The

lease provides for one five-year renewal option The rent is subject to

escalation based upon consumer price index adjustment of up to 3%

each year The lease also requires the Company to maintain security

deposit of approximately $69000 in the form of bank letter of credit as

discussed in Note 10 which is subject to annual reductions based upon

meeting certain minimum financial requirements

In addition the Company leases additional office space under non-cance

lable operating leases The leases for office space contain escalation claus

es that provide for increased rentals based primarily on increases in real

estate taxes operating expenses or the consumer price index Total rent

expense under all leases for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 was $5.0 million

$4.5 million and $3.8 million respectively At March 31 2009 future mini

mum lease payments required under non-cancelable leases were as follows

Year ending March 31

2010

in thousands

5227

2011 4829

2136

1959

2014 1690

Thereafter

Total minimum lease payments 25064

The Company accounts for guarantees in accordance with FIN No 45

Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees

Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others FIN No.45 elab

orates on the disclosures required in financial statements concerning obli

gations under certain guarantees It also clarifies the requirements relat

ed to the recognition of liabilities by guarantor at the inception of cer

tain guarantees.The provisions related to recognizing liability at incep

tion of the guarantee do not apply to product warranties or indemnifica

tion provisions in the Companys software license agreements

Under the terms of substantially all of the Companys license agreements

it has agreed to defend and pay any final judgment against its customers

in thousands

838

139

159

14

804

Australia

Belgium

France

Germany

United Kingdom

United States

Maryland

New York

2012

2013

9223
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arising from claims against such customers that the Companys software

products infringe the intellectual property rights of third party To date

the Company has not received any notice that any customer is subject

to an infringement claim arising from the use of its software products ii

the Company has not received any request to defend any customers from

infringement claims arising from the use of its software products and iii

the Company has not paid any final judgment on behalf of any customer

related to an infringement claim arising from the use of its software prod

ucts Because the outcome of infringement disputes are related to the

specific facts in each case and given the lack of previous or current indem

nification claims the Company cannot estimate the maximum amount of

potential future payments if any related to its indemnification provisions

However the Company reasonably believes these indemnification provi

sions will not have material adverse effect on its operating performance

or financial condition As of March 312009 the Company has not record

ed any liabilities related to these indemnifications

The Companys standard license agreement includes warranty provi

sion for software products.The Company generally warrants for the first

ninety days after delivery that the software shall operate substantially as

stated in the then current documentation provided that the software is

used in supported computer system The Company provides for the

estimated cost of product warranties based on specific warranty claims

provided that it is probable that liability exists and provided the

amount can be reasonably estimated.To date the Company has not had

any material costs associated with these warranties

The Company is involved in other claims and legal proceedings arising

from its normal operations The Company does not expect these matters

individually or in the aggregate to have material effect on its financial

condition results of operations or cash flows

12 Earnings per
Share

10 Credit Agreements and Notes Payable

Effective June 10 2002 the Company entered into credit facility with

commercial bank.The credit facility permitted the use of funds for gen

eral corporate purposes and the issuance of letters of credit up to max

imum of$10.0 million in the aggregate As of March 31 2009 the lender

under the credit facility had issued letters of credit in favor of the bene

ficiaries under number of the Companys operating leases in the aggre

gate amount of $1.4 million Upon default as defined in the respective

office lease agreement the applicable landlord has the right to draw

upon its letter of credit in whole or in part Interest under this facility

including interest on any amounts drawn under the letters of credit is

payable monthly at an annual rate of 1.25% The credit facility is collat

eralized by the Companys accounts receivable Effective March 312009

the Company elected to eliminate any borrowing capacity under the

credit facility in excess of its existing outstanding letters of credit

11 Employee Benefit Plan

Effective August 1993 the Company established 401k retirement

plan or the Plan covering all eligible employees as defined Eligible

employees who are at least 21 years old may participate Under the terms

of the Plan participants may defer portion of their salaries as employ

ee contributions.The Company makes matching contributions and may

make discretionary and extra contributions Employee contributions and

extra contributions made by the Company are 100% vested immediate

ly In general the Companys matching and discretionary contributions

vest ratably over fiveyear period The Companys expense under this

Plan for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 was $1.4 millions $1.3 million and

$1.1 million respectively

The following is reconciliation of the amounts used in calculating basic and diluted net income per common share for fiscal 20092008 and 2007

NET INCOME Numerator

Basic and diluted net income

SHARES Denominator

Weighted average shares outstanding basic

Plus

Effect of other dilutive securities options

Effect of other dilutive securities restricted stock

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted

NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

Basic

Diluted

2009

4732

2008 2007

in thousands except per
share amounts

533 7965

20296165 20342426 20357530

237212 253542 831709

47589 24819 16310

20580966 20620787 21205549

0.23 0.03 0.39

0.23 0.03 0.38

The weighted average diluted shares outstanding is not affected during any period where the exercise price of stock option is greater than the aver

age market price Options for the purchase of 1745390 1826054 and 469600 common shares were excluded from the weighted average diluted

shares outstanding for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively because their effect was anti-dilutive
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13 Treasury Stock

On January 31 2005 the Company announced that the Board had

authorized the repurchase of up to 1000000 shares of the Companys

common stock from time to time on the open market or in privately

negotiated transactions On February 2008 the Company announced

that the Board had authorized the repurchase of an additional 1000000

shares of the Companys common stock under the stock repurchase pro

gram.This stock repurchase program does not have specified termina

tion date Any repurchased shares will be available for use in connection

with the Companys stock plans or other corporate purposes The

Company expended $955000 $5.0 million and $1.5 million to purchase

75724 521849 and 104000 shares during fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively at an average price of $12.61 $9.61and $14.62

Restricted stock shares withheld from employees to satisfy the minimum

statutory withholding obligations with respect to the income recognized

by these employees upon the vesting of their restricted stock shares dur

ing the year are included in these totals

As of March 312009 the Company had repurchased 1111411 shares of

common stock under the stock repurchase program

14 Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes net income foreign currency transla

tion adjustments and net unrealized losses/gains on marketable secu

rities The components of comprehensive income for fiscal 2009 2008

and 2007 net of tax are as follows

Net income

Foreign currency

translation adjustments

Net unrealized gains losses

on marketable securities

Total comprehensive income

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income includes foreign cur

rency translation adjustments and net unrealized losses/gains on mar

ketable securities The components of accumulated other comprehen

sive loss income at March 31 2009 and 2008 net of tax are as follows

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Net unrealized losses on marketable securities

Total accumulated other

comprehensive loss income

2009

in thousands

2008

15 Business Segment and Geographic Area Information

The Company operates in one industry segment the development and

sale of computer software programs and related services The chief oper

ating decision maker evaluates the performance of the Company using

one industry segment For the years ended March 31 2009 2008 and

2007 revenue from transactions with United States government agen

cies was approximately 35% 41% and 43% of total revenue respective

ly No single customer accounted for 10% or more of revenue for fiscal

2009 2008 or 2007 In addition there was no country with the exception

of the United States where aggregate sales accounted for 10% or more

of total revenue The Companys assets were primarily held in the United

States for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007

Revenue by geographic destination and as percentage of total revenue

for fiscal 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

GEOGRAPHIC AREA BY DESTINATION

United States

International

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

GEOGRAPHIC AREA BY DESTINATION

United States 78.9% 79.8% 78.9%

International 21.1 20.2 21.1

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

96896

25983

$122879

80840

20506

$101346

75071

20059

$95130

2009 2008 2007

in thousands

4732 533 7965

1712

381

3401

147 758

381 19
299 8704

1171 541

381

1171 160
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16 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table sets forth activity in our valuation accounts

Balanceat Balanceat

Beginning of Period Charges to Expenses Deductions End of Period

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE RESERVE ACCOUNT
in thousands

YearendedMarch3l2009 154 646 87 713

YearendedMarch3l2008 133 96 75 154

Year ended March 31 2007 140 25 32 133

DEFERRED TAX VALUATION ACCOUNT

Year ended March 312009 13289 13289

Year ended March 312008 13289 13289

Year ended March 312007 13289 13289

Deductions represent write-a ffs of accounts receivable
previously

reserved and adjustments to reflect accounts receivable at net realizable value

17 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Year Ended March 31 2009 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

in thousands except per
share data

Revenue 30094 32358 31515 28912

Gross profit 22238 24527 23630 21200

Income loss from operations 945 3121 2832 484

Net income loss 807 2034 1962 71

Basic net income loss per common share 0.04 0.10 0.10 0.00

Diluted net income loss per common share 0.04 0.10 0.10 0.00

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 20209 20278 20315 20384

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 20444 20682 20652 20384

Year Ended March 31 2008 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

in thousands except per share data

Revenue 23332 24991 26017 27006

Gross profit 17474 19026 19091 19566

Loss income from operations 59 211 2346 1224

Net income loss 647 1301 1312 103

Basic net income loss per common share 0.03 0.06 0.06 0.00

Diluted net income loss per common share 0.03 0.06 0.06 0.00

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 20516 20409 20273 20200

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 21180 20926 20273 20200

18 Interest and Other Income Net 19 Subsequent Event

The components of interest and other income net for fiscal 20092008 On May 13 2009 the Board approved quarterly cash dividend in the

and 2007 were as follows amount of $0.09 per share which will be paid on June 292009 to stock-

2009 2008 2007 holders of record as of the close of business on June 15 2009

in thousands

Interest income 1004 3646 3825
The declaration of cash dividends in the future is subject to final deter

Interest expense 25 30 26
mination each quarter by the Board based on number of factors

Other income 267 38
including the Companys financial performance and available cash

Other expense 37 resources its cash requirements and alternative uses of cash that the

Interest and other income net 1246 3579 3834
Board may conclude would represent an opportunity to generate

greater return on investment for the Company The Board may decide

that future dividends will be in amounts that are different than the

amount described above or may decide to suspend or discontinue the

payment of cash dividends altogether



OPNET Technologks Inc

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Directors

Alain Cohen

its desr

on el hr 01/ Jr/it ci

Arnma Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockho der wrl be eld on Monday September 142009 at

OPNET Corporate Headquorters 7255 Woodnont Avenue Beth coda Mary and 20814

Form 10-K

copy of the Compan Annua Report to the Sec irit es an Eec sange Comm soon

Form to avai able wYhout charge upon equest bt contact ng OF NET nvestor

Relations or by sit ng our Web ste

Market nformation

Our commor stock trades on the Nwdaq Nationai Market under tte symbol OPNT
The fol owing tab sets forth on per share oasis for the indicated periods the high

and low sale prices of our common stock as reported b/the Nasdaq Nat onal Market

Ouarter ly Con- n-ion Stock Price for the ear Er ded March

Quarter ended High Low High Low

June30 10.50 034 14.l 9.90

Septerrber 30 14.39 3.02 11.92 9.41

Decomber 2.80 3.48 2.84 S.ci

March 10.81 737 05Q 7.52

On May 13 2209 The Board approvd quarterly cosh divrdend is the amour it of $0.29

per share vvh ch wrll be paid on June 29 203 to stockho ders of record as of tre close

of business on June /009

The deciarabor of cast vrdends the future is subject to firsal determinat on each

quarter by the Board based on umber of factors including our tnanca

performance and available casr resources our cash requiremersts and ternat ye uses

of cash that ttre Board may conc ude wou reprecorit an opportunity to ger crate

greater return on nvestrrent for us The Board may decide that future dividendr ivill be

is amounts that are dffere St tha the amourt described above or may dec de to

suspend or discontrnue the payment of cash di de sds altogether

Comparative Stock Performance

The graph below compares the cumulat ye total stockholder return on the Cor mor Stock

of the Comparsy from March 31 2004 to Marct 2009 with rhe cumulat ye total return of

ill the NASDAO Natiorral Market and the NASDAO Computer Data Processing ndex

The graph assumes the nvestment of $100.00 on March 31 2004 in the Companys

Common Stock the NASDAO National Market and the NASDAO Computer Data

Processing Index and in each case ossumes tI at any vrdersds ore reinsested

Executive Officers

Marc Cohen

Chairnsan of the Board

rsd Chief Executive Officer

Alain Cohen

Presrdent

and Cl ref Techrsology Officer

Mel Wesley

Vice Pres dent

arsd Chief Fnancial Offcer

kivestor Reations

Mel Wesley

r@opnet.com

hidependent Auditor

Deloitte Touche LIP

50Tysons Boulevard

McLeas VA 22102

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer

Trust Company LLC

C9 Maiden Lane

Plaza Leve

New YorK NY 10038

Legal Counse

Cooley Godward Kronish LLP

One Freedons Square

Reston Towrs Ce ster

951 Freedons Drive

Roston Virginia 20190

Corporate Headquarters

OPNETTechnologies Inc

255 Woodmont Avenue

Bethesda MD 20814

240 49-3000

ir@opnet.cons

www.opnet.com

NASDAO OPNT

3/04 3/05 3/06 3/07 3/08 3/09

OPNET Technologres Inc NASDAQ Composrte NASDAQ computer Data Procesung

Marc Cohen

50 en or rhe Bourd

ottO ft/ct Soccer cc 0th rr

2009 2008

Steven Finn Ph.D

lr p0 Rc urn-It 5cc Sir c/tic ir

vlussochuscrrr /rrtrirurc it To ltrtr /oot

Ronald Kaiser

repenJertr Direr ror

William Stasior

ci or C/so rrrtot

000/ Al/itt Horn iou or

Comparison of Year Cumuhitive Tota Return

Among OPNETTechnologies nc The NASDAO Composite ndec arM Ttre NASDAO

Computer Data Process rog ndex

160

ted -1 d.. .5g Ia



OPNEF
Making Networks and Applications Perform

OPNET Technologies Inc

7255 Woodmont Avenue

Bethesda Maryland 20814 USA

phone 240 497-3000

email info@opnet.com

Investor Relations

ir@opnet.com

www.opnet.com

ALL TRADEMARKS ARE THE PROPERTY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OWNERS
2009 OPNET Technologies Inc

All rights reserved


